


A MESSAGE FROM THE CEO OF

MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA
MARIA BONARIA FOIS

2019 has been a year of financial restructuring for 

Mondo TV Iberoamérica, largely thanks to the 

contribution from the parent Mondo TV S.p.A. and 

the shareholders that have participated in the share 

capital increase, demonstrating their belief in our 

Company. 

We are in the heart of a digital revolution where 

streaming platforms continue their path to 

becoming the media ‘par excellence’. We are faced 

with enormous challenges and even greater 

opportunities. Co-productions can be very profitable 

in terms of financing and sometimes they are a 

bonus for generating attractive global material, 

although the main risk lies in not recovering the 

initial investment. It is with this in mind that our 

new business model is based on seeking out 

investment partners and producing a single pilot 

episode to promote the series and, once buyers 

have been found, continue with the production 

thanks to the financing coverage found. We have 

several very ambitious fiction projects on the table, 

in different stages of development. We are looking 

for alliances with strong and strategic production 

partners, and we have made progress in this regard. 

There is still a long way to go, but we are confident 

that we can continue to successfully implement our 

international business strategy.
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THE YEAR AT A GLANCE

3

FINANCIAL RESULTS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

HUMAN TEAM

€ 573,115.06

Revenue as at 31.12.2019

€ 516,535.43

Distribution

€ 10,324.63
Co-production

€ 46,255.00

Other revenue

5 Directors:

3 members of the 

Group

2 independent

The Board has appointed an 

Audit Committee 3 Members 2 independent 

members
1 internal

Total workforce of 5

Women Men

60% 40%

Senior Management

Sales representatives

Administrative staff

1

0
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STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

4

Carry out new 

investments in co-

productions and the 

capture of new 

catalogues for 

distribution that 

permit a high margin 

to be obtained (up to 

50%). 

Gradually 

increase our 

portfolio and the 

target of our 

productions.

Become the 

respected 

benchmark in the 

industry to 

continue forming 

cultural bridges 

between Spain, 

Italy and Latin 

America. 
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STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

5

We are witnessing a large wave of original productions from around the world. This appears

to be a crucial moment, especially for Spanish speaking markets.

Our aim is to make Mondo TV Iberoamérica grow as a company with content not focused

solely on children, preteens and animated series, but also fiction for adults, expanding our

target audience to include viewers from these age groups.

We believe this is a favourable moment. There are many players that provide us with

opportunities to produce and transmit content, from traditional television channels to large

SVOD platforms that allocate significant budgets to new, original content, particularly for a

more adult public.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

6

The Board of Directors is the body responsible for managing and representing the Company.

The Board carries out its activity in accordance with the rules of organisation and operation

established in the Articles of Association of the Company and Regulations of the Board

General Shareholders’ Meeting.

As at 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors was comprised of:

Matteo Corradi

Maria Bonaria Fois

Patricia Motilla

Jesús García-Quílez

Carlo Marchetti

Chairman of the Board 

of Directors

Member and secretary

to the Board of Directors

Independent Director

Member of the Board of Directors

Deputy-secretary of the BoD and 

independent director
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• April 2019: Mondo TV Iberoamerica

announces that a large part of the Mondo TV

library will be available on Amazon Prime

Video Direct for the Latin America region.

• May 2019: our first young fiction co-

production, “Heidi Bienvenida”, premiers on

Netflix Latin America, Brazil, North America,

Italy, UK and Ireland.

• June 2019: signing of a 3 year exclusive

license agreement with the Israeli channel

Yes Kidz to transmit, disseminate and

distribute in Israel from September 2019

season 2 of “Heidi Bienvenida”, “Heidi,

Bienvenida al Show”. The signing of the this

agreement represents the continuity of the

development of the activity of the company

in

HIGHLIGHTS OF 2019

7

• January 2019: on 28 January, the first 

season of “Heidi Bienvenida” premiers on 

the Disney Channel. And from 1 April, the 

second season is available exclusively on the 

Disney Channel App. The series has been 

performing well on the platform and is 

among the most visited pages.

• March 2019: “YooHoo to the Rescue”, a

Mondo TV co-production with Aurora World

Corp. based on the popular Korean brand

YooHoo and Friends, launched as a Netflix

Original Series globally on 15 March. After

the global launch, the series reached

territorial broadcasters, with the exception

of a few countries, including Spain and

Portugal, on Clan TV and Canal Panda,

respectively.
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8

the Israeli market after the sale of “Heidi,

Bienvenida a Casa” in 2017.

• July 2019: the BoD of Mondo TV

Iberoamérica, S.A. called a General

Shareholders’ Meeting to propose the

increase of the share capital by three million

five hundred thousand euros (€3.500.000)

without the exclusion of pre-emptive rights.

The increase in monetary capital of

€3,499,989.90 took place at the year-end

and was fully paid up, thus allowing to

Company to return to a situation of positive

equity.

• September 2019: the second season of

Robot Trains -distributed throughout the

Iberian peninsular by Mondo Tv

Iberoamérica - enters the Iberian market,

confirming its expansion in Europe. In Spain

through Clan TVE, and in Portugal through

Canal Panda. Bizak is distributing the range

of toys in Spain on behalf of Master Toy

Silverlit. To date, the Robot Train line of

toys has sold well over an extensive

distribution of the main points of sale.

• October 2019: signing of contact with

Mondo TV S.p.A granting an exclusive

operating licence over the reproduction,

public communication and transformation

rights of “Heidi Bienvenida a Casa”, with the

power to
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sublicence it to third parties, in the

following territories: Central Europe

(excluding Spain, Portugal and Italy(,

Eastern Europe, Northern Europe, Arabic

speaking countries in the middle east and

Africa, Turkey and Israel.
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Minutes produced 

by Mondo TV Iberoamérica

2016

2017

2,700 min.¹

-

2018

2019

-

127 min.

(1): the high number of hours produced is due to the production of Heidi, Bienvenida a Casa 
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MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA, S.A.  
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018 

(Expressed in Euros) 

 

 

ASSETS 

Notes to the 

Financial 

Statements 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

    

NON-CURRENT ASSETS  4,729,459.26 5,077,341.94 

    

Intangible assets Note 5 1,010,244.71 1,429,381.57 

Patents, licences, trademarks and similar  654,058.97 1,095,967.85 

Computer software  - - 

Other intangible assets  356,185.74 333,413.72 

    

Property, plant and equipment Note 6 15,632.37 17,313.98 

Plant and other items of property, plant and equipment  15,632.37 17,313.98 

    

Non-current investments in group and associates  3,597,308.14 3,533,285.77 

Equity instruments Note 11 2,900,000.00 3,006.00 

Loans to companies Note 8.2 697,308.14 3,530,279.77 

    

Non-current financial assets Note 8.2 16,753.42 7,840.00 

Loans to third-parties  8,913.42 - 

Other financial assets  7,840.00 7,840.00 

    

Deferred tax assets Note 15 89,520.62 89,520.62 

    

CURRENT ASSETS  1,132,339.78 1,972,287.24 

Trade and other receivables   724,025.81 1,283,381.75 

Trade receivables for sales and services Note 8.2 329,910.63 724,210.87 

Receivables from Group companies and associates Notes 8.2 and 
19 

13,200.18 96,711.21 

Sundry accounts receivable Note 8.2 648.11 2,870.86 

Staff  - (200.00) 

Current tax assets Note 15 125,052.36 239,105.25 

Other public administration credits Note 15 255,214.53 220,683.56 

    

Current investments in Group and associates  275,327.48 617,211.19 

Current loans to group and associates Notes 8.2 and 
19 

195,148.31 353,547.58 

Other financial assets Notes 8.2 and 
19 

80,179.17 263,663.61 

    

Current financial assets Note 8.2 21,071.02 15,050.00 

Equity instruments  16,133.59 15,000.00 

Loans to third-parties  4,887.43 - 

Other financial assets  50.00 50.00 
    
Current prepayments and accrued income  - 4,172.70 
    
Cash and cash equivalents Note 8.1 111,915.47 52,471.60 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  5,861,799.04 7,049,629.18 
 

The Financial Statements of the Company, which form a single item, include the attached Statement of Financial Position, 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the abridged Annual Notes to 

the Financial Statements comprising 21 Notes.  
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MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA S.A.  
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 AND 2018 

 (Expressed in Euros) 
 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Notes to 
the 

Financial 
Statement

s 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
    EQUITY  3,147,663.96 (1,498,642.59) 
    Shareholders’ equity Note 13 3,147,663.96 (1,498,642.59) 
    Share capital Note 13.1 2,967,743.00 534,626.60 

Registered share capital  2,967,743.00 534,626.60 
    Issue premium  1,632,246.90 305,373.40 
    Reserves Note 13.2 519,604.42 519,604.42 

Legal reserve  62,702.55 62,702.55 

Other reserves  456,901.87 456,901.87 
    Results from previous financial years  (2,858,247.01) - 

(Negative results from previous years)  (2,858,247.01) - 
    Other shareholder contributions Note 13.3 1,187,840.00 - 
    Result for the year  (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 

    
    NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,288,609.83 5,681,097.01 
    
Non-current borrowings  439,370.36 989,141.05 

Debentures and convertible bonds Note 9.2 - 204,533.33 

Bank borrowings Note 9 228,421.92 784,607.72 

Other financial liabilities Note 9 210,948.44 - 
    

Non-current borrowings with group and associates 
Notes 9 and 

19 849,239.47 4,691,955.96 
    CURRENT LIABILITIES  1,425,525.25 2,867,174.76 
    Current borrowings  868,266.32 1,787,295.44 

Debentures and convertible bonds  - 142.23 

Bank borrowings Note 9.1 640,940.44 1,039,415.59 

Other financial liabilities Note 9.1 227,325.88 747,737.62 
    

Debts with Group and associates 
Notes 9 and 

19 65,932.43 526,198.15 
    Trade and other payables  491,326.50 553,681.17 

Suppliers - group companies and associates  53,474.14 - 

Sundry accounts payable Note 9.1 344,708.94 366,543.99 

Staff (remuneration payable) Note 9.1 26,105.48 120,279.12 

Other public administration payables Note 15 67,037.94 66,858.06 
    

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  5,861,799.04 7,049,629.18 
 
The Financial Statements of the Company, which form a single item, include the attached Statement of Financial Position, 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the abridged Annual Notes to 

the Financial Statements comprising 21 Notes. 
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MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA S.A. 
INCOME STATEMENTS FOR 2019 AND 2018 

(Expressed in Euros) 
 

INCOME STATEMENT 

Notes to the 
Financial 

Statements 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
    
Net Turnover  573,115.06 1,029,265.33 
Rendering of services Note 21 573,115.06 1,029,265.33 
    
    
Provisions Note 16.1 (15,486.50) (37,129.73) 
Works carried out by other companies  (15,486.50) (37,129.73) 
    
Other operating income  690,600.06 67,144.24 
Non-core and other current operating income  278,440.06 67,144.24 

Operating subsidies included in the year’s profit(loss) Note 16.3 412,160.00 - 
    
Staff costs  (482,755.19) (640,198.09) 
Wages, salaries and similar expenses  (434,187.77) (605,571.66) 
Employee benefit costs Note 16.2 (48,567.42) (34,626.43) 
    
Other operating expenses  (596,903.12) (633,108.56) 
Outsourced services  (595,691.34) (544,272.72) 
Taxes  (1,211.78) (1,211.78) 
Losses on, impairment of and changes in provisions for 
trade receivables Note 8.2 - (87,624.06) 
    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Notes 5 and 6 (450,399.62) (951,716.81) 
    
Surplus provisions  - 25,000.00 
    
Impairment and gains/losses through disposal of fixed 
assets 

 14,621.48 (1,541,404.37) 
Impairment and losses  14,621.48 (1,541,404.37) 
Gains/losses through disposals and other Note 5   
    
Other gains and losses  80,955.76 (10,952.42) 
    
RESULT FROM OPERATIONS  (186,252.07) (2,693,100.41) 
    
Finance income  52,286.60 73,968.41 

From marketable securities and financial instruments    

From Group companies and associates Note 19 51,043.50 73,968.41 

From third-parties  1,243.10 - 
        
Finance costs  (148,346.25) (227,073.38) 
From borrowings with Group companies and associates Note 19 (71,617.80) (107,163.13) 
From borrowings with other companies  (76,728.45) (119,910.25) 
    
Exchange differences Note 14 (19,211.63) (18,283.87) 
    
Differences and result through disposals of financial 
instruments  - (7.76) 
Gains/losses through disposals and other  - (7.76) 
    
FINANCIAL RESULT  (115,271.28) (171,396.60) 
    
RESULT BEFORE TAX  (301,523.35) (171,396.60) 
    
Income tax Note 15 - 6,250.00 
    

RESULT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
    

RESULT FOR THE YEAR  (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
 

The Financial Statements of the Company, which form a single item, include the attached Statement of Financial Position, 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the abridged Annual Notes to 
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the Financial Statements comprising 21 Notes.. 
 
 

MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA S.A. 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
A) STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE FOR 2019 AND 2018 

(Expressed in Euros) 
 

 
31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   

RESULT FOR THE YEAR (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 

   

Income and expenses recognised directly in equity - - 

   

CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENSES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY  - 

   

Transfers to the income statement - - 

   

TOTAL TRANSFERS TO THE INCOME STATEMENT - - 

   

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
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B) STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR 2019 AND 2018 

(Expressed in Euros) 
 

 
Registered 

share capital Issue premium Reserves 

Results from 
previous 

financial years 

Other 
shareholder 

contributions 
Result for the 

year Total 

        

CLOSING BALANCE 
2017 500,000.00 - 256,428.53   263,175.89  1,019,604.42  

        
Error corrections from 
2017 - - - - - -  -  
         

ADJUSTED OPENING 
BALANCE, 2018 500,000.00 - 256,428.53   263,175.89  1,019,604.42  

        

Total recognised 
income and expense - - -  - - (2,858,247.01) (2,858,247.01) 

Operations with 
partners or owners 34,626.60 305,373.40 -  - -  -  340,000.00  

Conversion of financial 
liabilities to equity 34,626.60 305,373.40  -  - -  -  340,000.00  

Other changes in 
equity - - 263,175.89 - - (263,175.89) -  

Distribution of prior 
year’s profit/(loss) - - 263,175.89  - - (263,175.89) -  
        

BALANCE AT 2018 
YEAR-END 534,626.60 305,373.40 519,604.42 - - (2,858,247.01) (1,498,642.59) 

        

Error corrections from 
2018 - - - - - -  -  

        

ADJUSTED OPENING 
BALANCE, 2019 534,626.60 305,373.40 519,604.42 - - (2,858,247.01) (1,498,642.59) 
        

Total recognised 
income and expense 

- - -  - - (301,523.35) (301,523.35) 

Operations with 
partners or owners 

2,433,116.40 1,326,873.50 -  - 1,187,840.00  -  4,947,829.90  

Capital increases 2,374,194.40 1,125,795.50 - - - - 3,499,989.90 

Conversion of financial 
liabilities to equity 

58,922.00 201,078.00 -  - -  -  260,000.00 

Other operations with 
partners or owners 

- - - - 1,187,840.00 - 1,187,840.00 

Other changes in 
equity 

- - - (2,858,247.01) - 2,858,247.01 -  

Distribution of prior 
year’s profit/(loss) 

- - - (2,858,247.01) - 2,858,247.01 -  

        
BALANCE AT 2019 
YEAR-END 2,967,743.00 1,632,246.90 

 

519,604.42  (2,858,247.01) 1,187,840.00 (301,523.35) 3,147,663.96 
 

The Financial Statements of the Company, which form a single item, include the attached Statement of Financial Position, 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the abridged Annual Notes to 

the Financial Statements comprising 21 Notes. 
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MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA, S.A. 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR 2019 AND 2018 

(Expressed in Euros) 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (574,589.58) 988,170.23 
   
Profit for the year before tax (301,523.35) (2,864,497.01

) Adjustments to profit (467,265.84) 2,727,141.84 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 450,399.62 951,716.81 

Valuation corrections due to impairment - (188,253.43) 
Change in provisions - (25,000.00) 
Gains/losses from write-offs and disposal of fixed assets (14,621.48) (1,541,404.37) 
Gain/(losses) through derecognition and disposal of financial 
instruments 

- 7.76 
Finance income (52,286.60) (73,968.41) 

Finance costs  148,346.25 227,073.38 

Exchange differences 19,211.63 18,283.87 
Other income and expense (1,018,315.26) 275,877.49 

Changes in working capital 369,253.65 1,529,473.70 

Trade and other receivables 450,250.48 1,270,431.21 
Other current assets 4,172.70 (172.74) 
Trade and other payables (85,169.53) 259,215.23 

Other financial liabilities - (25,000.00) 
Other non-current assets and liabilities - 25,000.00 

Other cash flows from operating activities (175,054.04) (403,948.30) 

Interest paid (179,549.46) (109,897.66) 
Interest received 101,553.09 (73,968.41) 
Other payments (sums received) (97,058.57) (220,082.23) 

 
  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (453,355.89) (1,694,757.06

)    
Payments due to investment (1,232,805.89

) 
(1,859,153.57

) Group companies and associates (613,958.56) (620,040.29) 

Intangible assets (602,762.15) (1,230,185.57) 
Property, plant and equipment (1,150.74) (8,927.71) 
Other financial assets (14,934.44) - 

Receipts from divestments 779,450.00 164,396.51 
   Group companies and associates 779,450.00 - 

Other financial assets - 164,396.51 
   CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 1,087,389.34 746,067.82 
   
Receipts and payments for equity instruments 3,499,989.90 340,000.00 

Issuance of equity instruments 3,499,989.90 340,000.00 
Receipts and payments for financial liability instruments (2,412,600.56

) 
406,067.82 

Issuance of:   

Bank borrowings 899,200.00 1,163,029.95 
Borrowings with Group companies and associates 790,000.00 612,096.76 

Refunds from:   

  Debentures and similar securities (142.23) (103,324.44) 
Bank borrowings (1,299,043.52) (354,829.69) 
Borrowings with Group companies and associates (2,802,614.81) (910,904.76) 

   
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 59,443.87 39,480.99 
 

  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 52,471.60 12,990.61 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 111,915.47 52,471.60 

 
The Financial Statements of the Company, which form a single item, include the attached Statement of Financial Position, 
the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the abridged Annual Notes to 

the Financial Statements comprising 21 Notes.  
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MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA S.A. 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019 

 
 

1. INCORPORATION, ACTIVITY AND LEGAL FORM OF THE COMPANY 
 

1.1 Incorporation and Registered Address 
 
The Company was incorporated as a Single Shareholder Company with the name Mondo TV Spain, 
S.L.U. on 28 February 2008 in Madrid. 
 
On 21 April 2016, the Sole-Shareholder approved the transformation of the Company into a public 
limited company, thereby changing its name to Mondo Iberoamérica S.A.  
 
The current registered address is at Calle Alvarez de Baena nº 4, es. 2, Pl. 02, Pt. 4ª. 28006. Madrid. 
 
The Company forms part of the Sociedad Mondo TV, the direct Parent of which is Mondo TV S.p.A, 
which files its financial statements in Italy. 

 
1.2 Activity 

 
The Company’s activity focuses on the development and co-production of children’s fictional series 
with “Heidi Bienvenida a Casa” being its first co-production. Simultaneously, Mondo TV Iberoamérica 
acts as a distribution agent for the catalogues of third-parties and of Mondo TV S.p.A, the leader of 
the Group in Italy where the main European operators in the production and distribution of animated 
series and films for television and cinema sector are located. 
 
It also acts as distribution agent in southern Europe for Spanish language fiction series aimed at young 
audiences, produced in Latin America or the United States. Lastly, it also closes merchandising 
agreements with the licensees of the distributed products. 
 
The Company maintains a significant volume of balances and transactions with the Companies of the 
Group to which it belongs. (Note 19). 

 
1.3 Legal Form 

 
The Company is governed by its Articles of Association and the prevailing Corporate Enterprises Act. 
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1.4 Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
As extensively detailed in Note 11, the Company owns 100% of the shares in Mondo TV Producciones 
Canarias, S.L.U. which is not listed on the stock exchange.  
 
The Consolidated Financial Statements were issued by the Directors of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, S.A. 
at the meeting of the Board of Directors held on 17 March 2020. The Financial Statements for 2018 
were issued on 27 March 2019, approved by the Ordinary General Shareholders Meeting held on 3 June 
2019 and filed with the Madrid Companies Register. 
 
The Financial Statements correspond exclusively to the separate financial statements of Mondo TV 
Iberoamérica, S.A. 

 
 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 

2.1 True and fair view 
 
These Financial Statements have been prepared using the Company’s accounting records and are 
presented in accordance with current mercantile legislation and with the regulations laid down in the 
General Accounting Plan approved by Royal Decree 1514/2007, of 16 November and Royal Decree 
602/2016, applying the amendments introduced thereto by Royal Decree 1159/2010 of 17 September 
in order to show a true and fair view of the assets, the financial situation, as well as the accuracy of 
the cash flows incorporated into the cash flow statement as well as the results of the Company. 
 
The accounting period to which these Financial Statements refer begins on 1 January 2019 and ends 
on 31 December 2019. 

 
2.2 Accounting Principles Applied 

 
The financial statements have been prepared by applying the accounting principles established in the 
Code of Commerce and the General Accounting Plan. 

 
2.3 Presentation Currency 

 
Pursuant to the legislation in force concerning accounting matters, the financial statements are 
expressed in Euros. 

 
2.4 Key issues in relation to the measurement and estimation of uncertainty 

 
The preparation of the attached financial statements involved estimates made by the Company 
Directors in order to value certain assets, liabilities, revenue, expenditure and commitments recorded 
in the accounts. These estimates essentially refer to:  
 
➢ The valuation of possible impairment losses of certain assets (mostly intangible assets) include 

subjectivity and a high level of judgement, as they are based on estimates made by the directors 
in the business plan.  

➢ The useful life of intangible assets.  
➢ Recoverability of tax credits. 
➢ Estimated future cash flows and expected returns used in the business plan approved by the 

Management. 
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➢ Recoverability of the financial investment of Mondo TV Producciones Canarias, S.L.U. based on 
the investee’s Business Plan. 

 
In spite of the fact that these estimations are based on the best available information, as at 2019 
year-end, future events might make it necessary to amend them (upwards or downwards) in 
subsequent years, which would be done in a forward-looking manner.  

 
Going concern risk 
 
The Company has analysed the factors causing the uncertainty and the mitigating factors regarding 
the existing risk of the company continuing to apply the going concern principle and support its 
conclusion to that respect.  
 
The financial, operational and legal causes for concern are the following: 
 
1) Working capital: as at 31 December 2019 the Company has a negative working capital of 

€293,185.47 (negative €894,887.52 at 31 December 2018); 
 

2) Excessive dependency of short-term borrowings to financial long-term assets (without 
considering intra-group loans): the amount of short-term lines of credit/discount lines/loan 
repayments (€645,220.20) over the total of outstanding loans/lines of credit with credit 
institutions and loans that have not been issued by credit entities (1,084,590.56) represents 
59.49%; 

 
3) Negative operating cash flows in past or prospective financial statements: the Company only 

had a negative operating cash flow in 2017 and this year; 
 
4) Key unfavourable financial ratios: 

 

Ratios 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Liquidity ratio 0.40 0.94 0.69 0.79 

Liquidity ratio (no intragroup) 0.99 1.62 0.84 0.83 

Solvency ratio 0.62 0.95 0.82 0.94 

Debt ratio 0.78 0.87 1.26 0.37 

Debt coverage ratio 2.65 3.95 (35.98) 7.55 

Debt coverage ratio (no 
intragroup) (0.02) 0.77 (9.88) 3.88 

ROE 0.21 0.26 (1.91) (0.10) 

ROA 0.04 0.11 (2.69) (0.51) 

Bad debts ratio 0.00 0.46 0.00 0.00 

Working Capital (1.344,328,88) (250,837.77) (894,887.52) (293,185.47) 

Working capital (no intragroup) (9,742.42) 1,509,680.13 (368,689.37) (227,253.04) 

Net financial position (2,604,327.95) (3,512,078.28) (6,840,833.80) (1,608,239.75) 

Operating costs ratio 22.04% 11.38% 52.88% 103.94% 

Investment turnover ratio 202.38% 48.36% 91.53% 13.17% 

     
     

 
Debt has dropped considerably as a result of the write-off and repayment of a large part of the 

parent's debt. In addition, after the capital increase, the net equity of the Company returned to 

positive figures. 
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5) Issues concerning the payment period of some suppliers; 
 
6) Partial non-fulfilment of the Business Plan forecast for 2019: only 15% has been fulfilled due to 

the contracts being negotiated are for a significant amount and have an important impact. 
 

The Company has analysed each one of these factors and the mitigating factors are as follows: 
 
1) As at 31 December 2019 the Company has a negative working capital of €293,185.47 (negative 

€894,887.52 at 31 December 2018); However, the working capital with no intragroup debt 
improved, changing from negative €368,689.37 in 2018 to a negative €227,253.04 al 31 
December 2019. The financial support provided by the Parent mitigated the risk of possible 
liquidity stress that might have existed in the short-term. 
  

 
2) The Company has the financial support of Mondo TV S.p.A. for 2020 and 2021, which has agreed 

to finance the group in the event of difficulties meeting its payment obligations, and the non-

enforceability of the current debt with Mondo TV S.p.A in the case that its financial viability is 

compromised. 

 

3) Mondo TV S.p.A is a solvent parent company with sufficient liquidity of more than €6.3 million 
in cash at hand and a net financial position of €3.1 million. The equity of the Company Mondo 
TV S.p.A as at 31 December 2019 totals €64 million, the working capital stands at €18 million 
and has a turnover of €XXX million; 

 
4) Despite registering a negative working capital, the Company has prepared a cash budget which 

does not forecast any cash issues or non-payments in the short/long-term. The capital increase 
has provided the Company sufficient liquidity to be able to reduce its debt, whereas the new 
contracts and the receipt of the loan by Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. will allow it to 
have sufficient liquidity during the next few years.  
 

5) The company’s liquidity ratio for 2019 returned to nearly 1 (0.79). This tells us that the Company 
is almost fully capable of covering its short-term debt. 
The operating cash flow has always been positive except in 2017 due to the sale of the series 
“Isabel” for the amount of €1,950,000.00 at the end of the year with its subsequent receipt in 
2018 and except in 2019, this being a one-off event. 
 
The main measures adopted by the company to ensure adequate cash on hand are: 
 
a. Capacity of the Company to delay certain payments with more important suppliers, if 

necessary; 
 

 
b. Change in the Company’s financing policy which now has the option to perform presales in 

order to self-finance itself before the completion of the co-production; 
 
6) During the year, the Company exceeded the legally established maximum payment period for 

trade suppliers of 60 days due to a part of the existing income being received over a period of 
up to two years, and because certain contracts, due to the significance of the sums involved 
took a long time to close, causing stress in terms of cash flow and delayed payments.  
Thanks to the adoption of measures such as confirming, non-recourse factoring and the search 
for financing more appropriate to the projects, the Company has managed to reduce the average 
payment period to suppliers from 96.37 to 75.22. 

 
7) In 2019, the Company once more had a positive EBITDA, although this is due to an accounting 

profit after the write-off of part of the debt with the parent. In this regard, the adjusted EBITDA 
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for 2019 is a negative €243,589.69. It is worth nothing that the Company already has a cost 
structure capable of supporting a significant growth in activity, this being the reason why it 
closed 2019 with an operating costs ratio of 103.94% (52.88% in 2018). Last year, the Company 
began to close contracts with digital platforms (Netflix, Amazon) which allows it to reach many 
markets at the same time, creating the potential to generate revenue from licences and 
participation in revenue. 

 
8) It should be noted that the Company has not lost important markets, there have simply been 

delays in closing the contracts. Furthermore, the number of countries in which it operates and 
the number of customers with is trades has increased. It has closed contracts with the United 
States, a market it considers important, it has strengthened its presence in Italy with important 
agreements with RAI and in Spain with the distribution of the RTVE catalogue and is co-producing 
“2050” with partners in Brazil and the United States. 

 
9) In 2019, the Company converted the amount outstanding in convertible debentures with Atlas 

in the amount of €260,000 into capital, thus increasing equity. Furthermore, an increase in 
monetary capital of €3.499.989.90 took place at the end of 2019, which was fully paid up, thus 
allowing to Company to return to a situation of positive equity. 

 
 

All these factors, that mitigate the continuity risk of the Company’s operations, must be considered 
in relation to the forecast activity, therefore the Board of Directors estimates that it will obtain the 
sufficient resources, counting the financial support of the parent, to allow the Company to realise its 
assets and settle its liabilities for the amounts and according to the classification in which they appear 
in the financial statements, which have been prepared assuming that the Company’s activity will 
continue. 
 

2.5 Comparative information 
 
Pursuant to the mercantile legislation, for each one of the headings of the Statement of Financial 
Position and the Income Statement, the Statement of Changes in Equity and the Statement of Cash 
Flows, the Directors present the figures for 2019, as well as those for the previous year for comparative 
purposes. The items from both years are comparable and homogeneous. 

 
2.6 Changes in Accounting Criteria 

 
The Company, in accordance with the conceptual framework of the accounting established in the 
General Accounting Plan, once it has adopted a criteria for the application of the principles generally 
accepted, it is maintained over time to the extent that this does not change the circumstances 
resulting in the selection of said criteria, and always taking into account that any change in said 
criteria has as a basic reference the principle of true and fair view. 
 

 
2.7 Responsibility of the Information and Estimates Made 

 
The information contained in these financial statements is the responsibility of the Company's 

Directors. Estimates have been used in the preparation of these financial statements to measure 

some of the assets, liabilities, expenses and commitments recognised therein, and these estimates 

basically refer to the measurement of impairment losses of certain assets, the useful life of the non-

current assets and the likelihood of provisions being made. 

Although these estimates are made using the best information available on the date of issue of these 

financial statements, it is possible that events may arise in the future that require that these be 
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amended in future financial years. In such case, this shall be done prospectively, recognising the 

effects of the change of the estimate in the corresponding income statements. 

2.8 Grouping of Items 
 
To facilitate understanding of the Statement of Financial Position, the Income Statement, the 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the Cash Flow Statement, these statements are presented in a 
grouped manner, with the analyses required being presented in the corresponding explanatory notes. 

 
2.9 Items detailed under several headings 

 
There are no equity elements of a similar nature that have been included in different headings in the 
statement of financial position. 

 
2.10 Error correction 

 
No changes in accounting criteria have been detected nor are there errors at the close of the financial 
year that oblige their restatement or the correction of equity information from previous financial 
years. 

 
 

3. ALLOCATION OF PROFIT 
 
The proposed allocation of profit from 2019, prepared by the corresponding Directors, is that 
detailed below, in Euros:  
 
 2019 2018 
   

Basis of Distribution   
Losses for the year (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
   
 (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
   
Distribution/(allocation) to:   
(Negative results from previous years) (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
   
 (301,523.35) (2,858,247.01) 
   

 
 
 

4. RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT STANDARDS  
 
The main recognition and measurement standards used by the Company in the preparation of its 
Financial Statements for 2019 in accordance with the General Accounting Plan, are as follows: 

 
4.1 Intangible assets 

 
The assets included under the intangible assets heading are measured at their cost, given that this is 
the acquisition price or production cost less the corresponding accumulated amortisation, in the case 
they have a defined useful life, and impairment losses, if any. 
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Patents, licences, trademarks and similar 
 
This heading includes the rights related to the series and films acquired from the Mondo TV S.p.A 
(Parent Company) catalogue, rights related to children’s series acquired from suppliers, as well as co-
productions carried out by the Company. 
The audiovisual rights of the Company are classified as intangible assets insofar as they are elements 
destined to serve the company’s activity over the long-term. Where an audiovisual right has be 
earmarked for sale, it is considered to form part of the Company’s inventory. Provided an audiovisual 
right has been earmarked for sale in the short-term, it is considered as inventory of the Company and 
its cost is recognised under “Changes in inventory”. 
 
These rights are measured at their acquisition cost less the amortisation practised based on the 
transfer of the rights of use and updated during the year. 
 
The production costs of the items of intangible assets produced by the Company is obtained by 
including the costs directly attributable to such assets, as well as the portion that reasonably 
corresponds of the costs indirectly attributable to the assets concerned, insofar as such costs 
correspond to the production period and are necessary for the asset to be operational. 
 
Pursuant to the provisions of the General Accounting Plan and its implementing regulations, the cost 
of the work must be calculated with reference to the production period, provided that such costs are 
necessary for the asset to be operational, with this concept recognising the direct and indirect 
production costs. Therefore, as specifically established in the Resolution of 28 May 2013 of the ICAC 
(Spanish Institute of Accounting and Audit), establishing the criteria for determining the production 
cost, the marketing costs, such as publicity and promotion, and the general administration costs shall 
not form part of the aforesaid cost. 
 
It is not possible to reliably estimate the fair value of the audiovisual rights by fragments, therefore 
these assets are derecognised through amortisation, the systematic depreciation is performed on a 
straight-line basis as it is considered that this amortisation system is better suited to the economic 
life of the rights of animated series owned by the Company. 
 
The audiovisual rights, net of their residual value, if any, are amortised by distributing the cost of the 
different assets on a straight-line basis over the estimated number of years of useful life that make 
up the period during which the Company expects to use them, in accordance with the following table:  
 
 

Production Useful life 
Mondo TV S.p.A. catalogue 20 
Heidi, Bienvenida a Casa 5 
Isabel 5 
Jules Verne 3 
Karlos 3 
2050 5 
Inolvidable Heidi 5 

 
 

 
In the case of the “Mondo TV S.p.A. catalogue”, this is amortised over 20 years, given that the library 
is replenished by new series, and Mondo TV S.p.A. is obliged to add all the new series produced or will 
be produced over the coming years.  
 
Intangible assets are assessed for signs of impairment at least at the end of each reporting period and, 
if any, the recoverable amount is estimated and the appropriate impairment losses are recognised. 
The recoverable amount is estimated through the actual value of the future cash flows that these 
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assets are forecast to generate over the coming years in the business plan. 
 
Impairment losses and their reversal are recognised in the income statement. 
 
Impairment losses are reversed when the circumstances giving rise to them cease to exist. Impairment 
losses may be reversed up to the limit of the carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 

 
Computer software 

 
Licences acquired for computer programs from third parties are capitalised on the basis of the costs 
incurred in acquiring them. 
 
The computer applications are amortised on a straight-line basis at a rate of 33.33% annually. 
 
Should there be any reasonable doubts regarding the technical success or the economic-commercial 
profitability of an IT development, the amounts recognised in the asset corresponding thereto, are 
posted to losses for the period. 
 
The maintenance costs of the computer software incurred for the year are recognised in the Income 
Statement. 

 
4.2 Property, plant and equipment 

 
Property, plant and equipment are measured at their acquisition price less accumulated depreciation, 
and where applicable, the accumulated losses arising from impairment. 
 
The conservation and maintenance costs incurred during the financial year are charged to the Income 
Statement. The renovation, extension or improvement to property, plant and equipment, which 
represent an increase in capacity, productivity or a lengthening of the useful life, are capitalised at 
the higher values of the assets concerned, once the accounting values of the elements that have been 
replaced have been derecognised. 
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The property, plant and equipment, net of their residual value, if any, are depreciated by distributing 
the cost of the different items that make up said property, plant and equipment on a straight-line 
basis over the estimated number of years of useful life during which the Company expects to make 
use of them, in accordance with the following table:  

 

 
Annual % 

Estimated Years of 
Useful Life 

   
Plant 10.00 10.00 
Tools 25.00 4.00 
Other installations 10.00 10.00 
Furniture 10.00 10.00 
Computer equipment 25.00 4.00 
   
   
   

 
The investments made by the Company in leased properties, that are not separable from the leased 
asset, are depreciated according to their useful life which is the lower of the duration of the lease 
agreement including the renewal period when there is objective evidence to support this, and the 
economic life of the asset. 
 

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised in the accounts via 
its disposal or writing it off by some other means, or when it is not expected to obtain any further 
profits or economic returns through its use, disposal or writing off by some other means. 
 
At the year-end, the Company carries out impairment tests to establish whether there is any 
impairment to an item of property, plant and equipment or any cash generating unit, in which case, 
the recoverable values are estimated and the necessary valuation adjustments are made. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised when the value of an item of property, plant and equipment exceeds 
its recoverable value, this being understood as the highest amount between its fair value less sale 
costs and its value in use. 
 
The valuation adjustments due to impairment of property, plant and equipment, as well as their 
reversal when circumstances that caused them cease to exist, are recognised as an expense or 
revenue, respectively, in the Income Statement.  

 
4.3 Leases and other operations of a similar nature 

 
The Company classifies leases as finance leases whenever it can be inferred from the economic terms 
and conditions of the lease that all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the leased 
asset are substantially transferred to the lessee. In the case that the terms and conditions of the lease 
are not met for it to be considered a financial lease, it will be considered as an operating lease. 

 

The operating lease costs incurred during the financial year are charged to the Income Statement.  
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In the case of financial lease contracts, at the commencement thereof, the Company recognises an 

asset in accordance with its nature, depending on whether it is an item of property, plant or equipment 

or an intangible asset, and a financial liability for the same amount, which will be the lower of the 

fair value of the leased asset and the actual value at the commencement of the lease of the minimum 

agreed payments. The interest rate implied in the contract is used for the calculation of the actual 

value of the minimum payments for the lease and if this cannot be determined, then the interest rate 

of the lessee for similar transactions is used. 

 

The total financial charge is distributed throughout the term of the lease and is recognised against 
the Income Statement of the year in which it accrues, applying the effective interest rate method. 
The amounts of a contingent nature are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are 
incurred. 

 

Amortisation, impairment and derecognition criteria are applied to the assets recognised in the 

statement of financial position as a result of financial leases according to their nature.  

 
4.4 Financial Instruments 

 
The Company determines the classification of its financial assets at the moment of initial recognition 
and, where permitted and appropriate, re-evaluates this classification at the end of each financial 
year. 
 
The financial instruments used by the Company, for measurement purposes, are classified into the 
following categories: 
 
1. Loans and receivables and liabilities and payables. 
 
2. Available-for-sale financial assets. 
 
3.    Investments in the equity of Group, Multi-Group and associates 
 
4.    Other assets at fair value with changes in the income statement 

 
Loans and receivables and liabilities and payables 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
This category includes: 
 
a) Receivables from trade transactions: financial assets originating from the sale of assets and the 

provision of services for traffic operations, and 
 
b) Receivables from non-trade transactions: financial assets which, not being equity or derivative 

instruments, have no trade origin, the amount receivable of which is a determined or 
determinable amount, and which are traded on an active market. Financial assets for which the 
Company is unable to substantially recover all the initial investment due to circumstances other 
than credit impairment are not included. The latter are classified as available for sale. 
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Investments in the equity of Group, Multi-Group and associates 
 
These are initially recognised at cost, which is equivalent to the fair value of the consideration paid 
plus the directly attributable transaction costs. 
 
They are then valued at their cost, less the cumulative value of the value impairment corrections, 
where relevant. 
 
At year-end, and when there is objective evidence that the carrying amount of an investment will not 
be recoverable, the necessary value adjustments are made. 
 
If there is objective evidence that the carrying amount is not recoverable, the relevant adjustments 
are performed according to the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount, 
construed as the higher of the fair value less the cost of sales and the current value of the future cash 
flows generated by the investment. In the absence of any better evidence, in the estimation of the 
impairment of such investments, consideration is given to the net worth of the company in which the 
stake is held, corrected in accordance with the tacit surpluses in existence on the date of valuation 
The valuation adjustment and, as the case may be, its reversal, are recognised in the income 
statement for the year in which they occur.  
 
The amount of the valuation adjustment is determined as the difference between the carrying amount 
and the recoverable amount, unless there is better evidence of the recoverable amounts of the 
investments. In the estimation of the impairment to these classes of assets the proportional part of 
the equity of the investee is taken into account, adjusted by the tacit gains existing in the valuation 
date, which corresponds to identifiable elements in the statement of financial position of the investee. 
 
When determining the equity of an investee whose operating currency is different to the Euro, the 
closing spot exchange rate is applied, both to the equity and to the tacit gains on that date. 

 
Liabilities and payables 
 
This category includes: 

 

a) Payables from trade transactions: financial liabilities originating from the purchase of assets 

and services for traffic operations, and 

 

b) Payables from non-trade transactions: financial liabilities that, not being derivative 

instruments, have no trade origin. 

 

Initially, the financial assets and liabilities included in this category are recognised at fair value, which 

is the transaction price, this being equal to the fair value of the consideration received plus the 

directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the trade receivables and payables that fall due within less than one 

year and which do not have a contractual rate of interest, and where relevant, advances and loans to 

staff, dividends receivable and payments required regarding equity instruments, where the amount is 

expected to be received in the short-term, and the payments required by third parties regarding 

ownership interests, where the amount is expected to be paid in the short-term, are measured at 

their nominal value when the effect of not discounting the cash flows is insignificant. 
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In previous measurements, both assets and liabilities are measured at their amortised cost. Accrued 

interest is recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method. Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, receivables and payables falling due within a year which are not initially measured at 

their nominal value continue to be measured at said amount, except, in the case of receivables, these 

have become impaired. 

 

At year-end, the necessary valuation corrections are performed if there is objective evidence that the 

value of a receivable is impaired, that is, if it can be demonstrated that there is a reduction or delay 

in estimated future cash flows corresponding to said asset. 

 

Impairment losses for loans and receivables, corresponding to the difference in the carrying amount 

and the current value of the future cash flows that it is estimated that these will generate, discounting 

the effective interest rate calculated when initially recognised. 

 

The valuation adjustment due to impairment of borrowings as at 31 December 2019 have been 

estimated according to the analysis of each one of the individualised balances pending collection as 

at said date. 

 
Convertible debentures 
 
As previously mentioned in Note 9.2, the Company has concluded the issuance of convertible 

debentures with incorporated warrants.  

 

For classification purposes, it is assessed whether it is a financial instrument comprising a debt and 

equity component. The Company determined that according to the characteristics of the instrument 

it is mainly comprised of debt. Initially, it is measured at fair value, which is the transaction price, 

this being equal to the fair value of the consideration received plus the directly attributable 

transaction costs. In previous measurements, they are measured at their amortised cost. Accrued 

interest is recognised in the Income Statement using the effective interest method.  

 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
A financial asset, or part thereof, is derecognised when it expires or the contractual rights over the 
cash flows of the financial asset are assigned and the risks and rewards of ownership have been 
substantially transferred. 
 
When a financial asset is derecognised, the difference between the consideration received net of the 
attributable transaction costs, taking into account and new asset obtained less any liability assumed, 
and the book value of the financial asset, plus any accumulated amount recognised directly in net 
equity, determines the gain or loss arising from derecognising said asset, and forms part of the result 
for the financial year in which it occurs. 

 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the corresponding obligation is extinguished.  
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The difference between the book value of the financial liability or of the part derecognised and the 
consideration paid, including any attributable transaction costs, as well as any asset ceded other than 
cash, or liability assumed, is recognised in the Income Statement of the year in which it arises. 

 
Interest and dividends from financial assets 
 
Interest and dividends from financial assets accrued after the date of acquisition are recognised as 
income in the Income Statement. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, if the dividends unequivocally come from earnings generated prior to the 
acquisition date, these are recognised reducing the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Interest must be recognised using the effective interest rate method and dividends when the right of 
the shareholder to receive them is announced. For these purposes, in the initial measurement of the 
financial assets, the amount of unmatured accrued explicit interest is recognised separately based on 
their maturity dates, as well as the amount of the dividends agreed by the competent body at the 
moment of acquisition. 

 
Guarantees delivered and received 
 
For guarantees delivered and received for operating leases and the provision of services, the 
difference between their fair value and the amount paid is recognised as an advanced payment or 
collection for the lease or provision of the service. In the case of non-current guarantees delivered 
and received, these are measured at the amount paid. 
 
 

4.5 Foreign currency transactions 
 
Foreign currency transactions are recognised at their counter-value in Euros, using the spot exchange 
rates in force on the date on which they occur. 
 
At the close of each period, the monetary items are measured applying the average spot exchange 
existing on said date. The exchange differences, both positive and negative, originating from this 
process, as well as those generated when settling said equity elements, are recognised in the Income 
Statement of the year in which they occur. 
 
The non-monetary items measured at historic costs continue to be measured by applying the exchange 
rate of the transaction date. The measurement thus obtained cannot exceed at the year-end the 
recoverable amount at that time, applying to this value, if necessary, the exchange rate at the year-
end; in other words, the date referred to in the financial statements. 
 
At the year-end, the non-monetary values measured at fair value, are measured by applying the 
exchange rate as at the date the fair value is determined, this being that of the year-end. 

 
4.6 Income tax 

 
 
Income tax is recognised in the Income Statement or directly in Equity depending on where the 
earnings or loss generating said item is recognised. The income tax for each financial year recognises 
both the current tax and the deferred taxes, as relevant. 
 
The current income tax is the amount the companies pay as a result of the tax returns of the tax on 
profit. 
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The differences between the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, and their tax base, generate 
deferred tax asset or liability balances which are calculated using the expected tax rates at the time 
of their reversal, and in accordance with the manner in which it is reasonably expected to recover or 
pay the asset or liability. 
 
The changes produced in the financial year in the deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in 
the Income Statement or directly in Equity, as appropriate. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised insofar as it is likely that future tax gains will be available which 
allow the application of these assets. 
 
At each year-end of the statement of financial position, the fair value of the recognised deferred tax 
assets are analysed and the necessary adjustments are made insofar as there are concerns as to their 
future fiscal recoverability. An evaluation is likewise performed at the close of each financial year of 
deferred tax assets not recognised in the statement of financial position, and these are recognised if 
it becomes probable that they will be recovered through future taxable profits.  
 

4.7 Income and expenses 
 
Income and expenses are recognised depending on the accrual criteria, i.e. when the real flow of 

goods and services it represents occurs, irrespective of the time when the monetary or financial flow 

arising from them occurs. 

 

Income from the sale of goods and the provision of services is measured at the fair value of the 

balancing entry, received or due to be received, deriving from the foregoing, which,unless otherwise 

stated, is the price agreed for said goods or services, discounting: the amount of any discount, price 

reduction or other similar item, as well as the interest incorporated into the nominal of the loans. 

 

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised when the result of the transaction can be reliably 

estimated, taking into account the percentage of the service rendered at the year-end. As a result, 

revenue from the rendering of services is only recognised when each one of the following conditions 

are met: 

 

a) the amount of the income can be reliably measured 

 

b) it is likely that the Company shall receive the profit or economic returns deriving from the 

transaction. 

 

c) the degree of completion of the transaction at the year-end can be reliably measured, and, 

 

d) the costs already incurred in the rendering of the service, as well as those that might be incurred 

until its completion, can be reliably measured. 

 

The Company reviews, and where necessary, amends the estimates of the revenue to be received as 

the service is rendered.  

 

When the result of a transaction that involves the rendering of services cannot be reliably estimated, 
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the revenue is recognised, but only in the amount at which the recognised costs are considered 

recoverable. 

 

4.8 Provisions and contingencies 
 
Obligations existing at the year-end arising from past events which could result in probable losses for 
the Company, and the amount and moment of cancellation of which are undetermined, are recognised 
on the statement of financial position as provisions and are measured at the current value of the best 
estimate possible of the amount necessary to cancel the obligation or transfer it to a third-party. 
 
Adjustments in the provision based on any updates are recognised as a financial expense as they 
accrue. In the case of provisions maturing within or at one year, discounting is not used if the effect 
thereof is not material. 
 
The Company similarly informs, where applicable, of the contingencies not giving rise to provisions. 

 
 

4.9 Related-party transactions 
 
In general terms, the elements object of a transaction with related-parties are initially recognised at 
fair value. In this case, if the price agreed in a transaction differs to its fair value, the difference will 
be recognised according to the financial reality of the transaction. The subsequent valuation is made 
in accordance with the terms of the corresponding regulations. 
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5. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 
The breakdown and changes in intangible fixed assets for 2019 are as follows: 

 
 

01/01/2019 Additions Disposals 31/12/2019 

     
Cost:     
Patents, licences, 
trademarks and similar 3,371,681.08 51,536.91 (53,920.00) 3,369,297.99 

Computer software 1,500.00 - - 1,500.00 

Advance payments for 
intangible assets 333,413.72 22,772.02 - 356,185.74 

     

 3,706,594.80 74,308.93 (53,920.00) 3,726,983.73 

     

Accumulated 
amortisation:     

Patents, licences, 
trademarks and similar (2,275,713.23) (447,567.27) 8,041.48 (2,715,239.02) 

Computer software (1,500.00) - - (1,500.00) 

     

 (2,277,213.23) (447,567.27) (8,041.48) (2,716,739.02) 

     

Net intangible assets 1,429,381.57 (373,258.34) (45,878.52) 1,010,244.71 

     

 
The main audiovisual rights recognised under the heading “Patents, licences, trademarks and similar” 
are those originating from the animation catalogue produced by Mondo TV S.p.A, and the rights from 
the co-production of the series “Heidi, Bienvenida a casa”. 
 
The additions recognised in the abovementioned heading correspond to the dubbing to neutral Spanish 
for the co-production “Heidi, Bienvenida a casa”. 
 
Other additions of assets in progress include €22,772.02 relating to the co-production of the series 
“2050” which is expected to be marketed in 2021. 
 
The net value of “Patents, licences, trademarks and similar” decreased due to the partial 
derecognition (in accordance with BOICAC No. 80/2009 Inquiry 2) of “Heidi, Bienvenida a casa” in the 
amount of €179,768.31 due to the sale of the distribution rights to Mondo TV S.p.A. for €400,000 for 
Europe (excluding Spain, Portugal and Italy) and Arabic speaking countries in the Middle East and 
Africa, Turkey and Israel.  
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The changes in intangible assets corresponding to the previous year were as follows: 

 

 01/01/2018 Additions 

Write-offs due 
to irreversible 

impairment Transfers 31/12/2018 

      
Cost:      

Patents, 
licences, 
trademarks and 
similar 6,340,071.65 481,660.28 (3,555,980.26) (105,929.41) 3,371,681.08 

Computer 
software 1,500.00 - -  1,500.00 

Advance 
payments for 
intangible assets - 451,530.15 (12,187.02) 105,929.41 333,413.72 

      

 6,341,571.65 933,190.43 (3,568,167.28) - 3,706,594.80 

      

Accumulated 
amortisation:      
Patents, 
licences, 
trademarks and 
similar 

(3,334,983.05) (957,493.09) 2,016,762.91 - (2,275,713.23) 

Computer 
software (975.00) (525.00) - - (1,500.00) 

      

 (3,335,958.05) (958,018.09) 2,016,762.91 - (2,277,213.23) 

      

Net intangible 
assets 3,005,613.60 (24,827.66) (1,551,404.37) - 1,429,381.57 

      
 
Other additions of assets in progress in 2018 include €112,293.08 relating to the co-production of the 
series “2050”, and €221,120.64 for the co-production of the film “Inolvidable Heidi”. 
 
As at 31 December 2018, €1,541,404.37 were recognised as irreversible impairment. Of which 
€1,194,161.57 correspond to “Heidi I” because the licensing and international sales did not generate 
the expected revenue according to the predictions made in previous years.  

 
Fully amortised elements and in use 
 
AAs at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the items are fully amortised: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
Patents, licences, trademarks and similar 1,324,349.23 1,324,349.23 
Computer software 1,500.00 1,500.00 
   

 1,325,849.93 1,325,849.93 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The breakdown and changes in property, plant and equipment for 2019 are as follows: 

 

 01/01/2019 Additions Disposals 31/12/2019 
     
Cost:     

Other facilities, tools and furniture 28,085.80 - - 28,085.80 
Information processing equipment 6,816.60 1,150.74 - 7,967.34 
     
 34,902.40 1,150.74 - 36,053.14 
     
Accumulated amortisation:     

Other facilities, tools and furniture (15,297.15) (1,361.04) - (16,658.19) 
Information processing equipment (2,291.27) (1,471.31) - (3,762.58) 
     
 (17,588.42) (2,832.35) - (20,420.77) 
     
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 17,313.98 (1,681.61) - 15,632.37 
     

 
The changes in property, plant and equipment corresponding to the previous year were as follows: 

 

 01/01/2018 Additions Disposals 31/12/2018 
     
Cost:     

Other facilities, tools and furniture 22,685.39 5,400.41 - 28,085.80 
Information processing equipment 3,289.30 3,527.30 - 6,816.60 
     
 25,974.69 8,927.71 - 34,902.40 
     
Accumulated amortisation:     

Other facilities, tools and furniture (12,334.90) (2,962.25) - (15,297.15) 
Information processing equipment (1,554.80) (736.47) - (2,291.27) 
     
 (13,889.70) (3,698.72) - (17,588.42) 
     
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 12,084.99 5,228.99 - 17,313.98 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, S.A. for 2019 4 

 

 

Fully amortised elements and in use 
 
AAs at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the items are fully amortised: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
Other facilities, tools and furniture 13,686.29 13,686.29 
Information processing equipment 1,639.30 1,639.30 
   

 15,325.59 15,325.59 
   

 
 

7. LEASES AND OTHER OPERATIONS OF A SIMILAR NATURE 
 

7.1 Operating leases (the Company as lessee) 
 
A total of €41,125.47 (€40,568.49 in 2018) was charged to the income statement for operating leases 
for the 2019 financial year.  
 
The total amount of minimum future payments corresponding to non-cancelable operating leases is as 
follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Up to 1 year 28,021.20 41,906.16 
Between 1 and 3 years. - 28,128.79 
   
 28,021.20 70,034.95 
   

 
8. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 
The breakdown of non-current financial assets is as follows: 

 

 

Loans, Derivatives 
and other 

Loans, Derivatives 
and other 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
Loans and receivables (Note 8.2) 714,061.56 3,538,119.77 
   
Total 714,061.56 3,538,119.77 
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The breakdown of current financial assets is as follows: 

 

 

Equity 
instruments 

Equity instruments Loans, 
Derivatives 
and other 

Loans, 
Derivatives 
and other 

Total Total 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 
    

  

Assets at fair value with changes in the 
income statement: 

- - 111,915.47 52,471.60 111,915.47 52,471.60 

Cash and other liquid assets (Note 8.1) - - 111,915.47 52,471.60 111,915.47 52,471.60 

       

Loans and receivables (Note 8.2) 
  

- - 624,023.83 1,440,854.13 624,023.83 1,440,854.13 

       

Available-for-sale assets recognised at fair 
value. 

16,133.59 15,000.00 - - 16,133.59 15,000.00 

       

Total 16,133.59 15,000.00 735,939.30 1,493,325.73 752,072.89 1,508,325.73 

       

 
8.1 Assets at fair value with changes in the income statement 

 
8.1.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
The breakdown of these assets is as follows 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Cash and bank 111,915.47 52,471.60 
   
Total 111,915.47 52,471.60 
   

 
The amount of the cash and cash equivalent balances that are available for use is as follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Cash and bank 5,325.92 12,309.68 
   
Total 5,325.92 12,309.68 
   

 
The balances are pledged as guarantee for the loan with MyTripleA until 13 July 2021. The monthly 
interest and guarantor costs will be paid through this account.  
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The return on these assets is based on daily or short-term interest rates. Due to the high liquidity, the 
fair value of these assets coincides with their carrying amount. 

 
8.2 Loans and receivables 

 
The composition of this heading at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:  

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

     
Receivables from trade 
transactions     
     
Customers, Group companies - 13,200.18 - 96,711.21  
Third-party customers - 329,910.63 - 724,210.87  
Staff - - - (200.00) 
Third-party receivables - 648.11 - 2,870.86  
     

Total receivables from trade 
transactions 

- 343,758.92 - 823,592.94 

     

Receivables from non-trade 
transactions     
     
Loans to Group companies 697,308.14 195,148.31 3,530,279.77 353,547.58 
Loans to third-parties 8,913.42 4,887.43 - - 
Guarantees and deposits 7,840.00 50.00 7,840.00 50.00 
Other financial assets - 80,179.17 - 263,663.61 
     

Total non-trade receivables 
714,061.56 280,264.91 3,538,119.77 617,261.19 

     
Total 714,061.56 624,023.83 3,538,119.77 1,440,854.13 

     
 
In order to address the losses of the investee Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U., in 2018 the 
entirety of the loan (€3,809,858.94) was converted into a participating loan falling due in 2023. The 
Company has analysed the recoverability of the investment in accordance with its Business Plan 2020-
2022. No impairment has been recognised as it is expected to continue to generate profits in the 
coming years. In 2019, the investee’s turnover exceeded €1 million for the first time, and it is expected 
to do so over the coming years.  
 
On 5 September 2019 another €600,000 of the participating loan was converted into capital, bolstering 
the equity of the subsidiary which now has a capital of €2,900,000.  
 
No impairments or losses due to insolvency risks were recognised in 2019.  
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The balances of trade and other receivables in 2018 include impairment caused by insolvency risks, as 
detailed below:  
 

Impairment 
Balance at 
31/12/2017 

Valuation 
adjustment 
due to 
impairment 

Impairmen
t reversals 

Outflows and 
reductions 

Transfers 
and other 
variations 

Balance at 
31/12/2018 

       
Receivables from 
trade transactions       

       

Customers (188,253.43) (87,624.06) - (275,877.49) - - 

       

Total (188,253.43) (87,624.06) - (275,877.49) - - 

       

In 2018 losses on non-recoverable loans were recognised for the amount of €275,877.49, 

corresponding to five customers, one of which amounts to €170,544.27 and another €61,775.33. 

 
8.3 Other information relating to financial assets 

 
8.3.1 Classification by maturity 

 
The maturity of the financial instruments as at 31 December 2019 is as follows: 

 
Maturity by year 

 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
More than 5 

years 
Total 

        

Investments in Group companies and associates 275,327.48 223,785.03 232,327.35 241,195.75 - - 972,635.62 

Loans to companies 195,145.31 223,785.03 232,327.35 241,195.75 - - 892,456.45 

Other financial assets 80,179.17 - - - - - 80,179.17 

        

Financial investments 21,071.02 12,876.08 3,877.34 - - - 37,824.44 

Financial Instruments 16,133.59 - - - - - 16,133.59 

Loans to third-parties 4,887.43 5,036.08 3,877.34 - - - 13,800.85 

Other financial assets 50.00 7,840.00 - - - - 7,890.00 

        
Trade and other receivables 343,758.92 - - - - - 343,758.92 
Trade receivables for sales and services 329,910.63 - - - - - 329,910.63 

Receivables from Group companies and associates 13,200.18 - - - - - 13,200.18 

Sundry accounts receivable 648.11 - - - - - 648.11 

        

Total 640,157.42 236,661.11 236,204.69 241,195.75 - - 1,354,218.98 

        

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, S.A. for 2019 8 

 

 

 
The classification by maturity as at 31 December 2018 is as follows: 

 
Maturity by year 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
More than 5 

years 
Total 

        

Investments in 
Group 
companies and 
associates     617,211.19  290,630.53 302,118.74 314,061.06 2,623,469.44 - 4,147,490.96  

Loans to 
companies 353,547.58  290,630.53 302,118.74 314,061.06 2,623,469.44 - 3,883,827.35  

Other financial 
assets 263,663.61  - - - - - 263,663.61  
        

Financial 
investments 15,050.00  - - - - 7,840.00 22,890.00  

Equity 
instruments 15,000.00  - - - - - 15,000.00  

Other financial 
assets 50.00  - - - - 7,840.00 7,890.00  

        

Trade and 
other 
receivables 823,592.94  - - - - - 823,592.94  

Trade 
receivables for 
sales and 
services 724,210.87  - - - - - 724,210.87  

Receivables 
from Group 
companies and 
associates 96,711.21  - - - - - 96,711.21  

Staff (200.00) - - - - - (200.00) 

Sundry 
accounts 
receivable 2,870.86  - - - - - 2,870.86  

        

Total 1,455,854.13 290,630.53 302,118.74 314,061.06 2,623,469.44 7,840.00 4,993,973.90 
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9. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 
The breakdown of non-current financial liabilities is as follows: 

 

 
Bank borrowings Derivatives and Others Total 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

       
Liabilities and 

payables (Note 9.1) 
228,421.92 784,607.72 1,060,187.91 4,896,489.29 1,288,609.83 5,681,097.01 

       

Total 228,421.92 784,607.72 1,060,187.91
4,896,489.29
1,288,609.83
5,681,097.01 

4,896,489.29 1,288,609.83 5,681,097.01 

       

 
The breakdown of current financial liabilities is as follows: 

 

 Bank borrowings Derivatives and Others Total 

 
31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 
      

Liabilities and 

payables  

(Note 9.1) 

640,940.44 1,039,415.59 717,546.87 1,760,901.11 1,358,487.31 2,800,316.70 

       
Total 640,940.44 1,039,415.59 717,546.87 1,760,901.11 1,358,487.31 2,800,316.70 
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9.1 Liabilities and payables 
 
The breakdown of this heading as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows, in Euros: 

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Non-current Current Non-current Current 

     
From trade transactions:     

     
Suppliers - group companies and 
associates 

- 53,474.14 - - 

Payables - 344,708.94 - 366,543.99 

     

Total balances from trade transactions - 398,183.08 - 366,543.99 

     

From non-trade transactions:     

     

Bank borrowings (Note 9.2) 
228,421.92 640,940.44 784,607.72 1,039,415.59 

Borrowings with related parties (Note 
20) 

849,239.47 65,932.43 4,691,955.96 526,198.15 

Staff - 26,105.48 - 120,279.12 

Debentures and convertible bonds (Note 
9.3) 

- - 204,533.33 142.23 

Other financial liabilities 210,948.44 - - - 

     

Loans and other borrowings 1,288,609.83 732,978.35 5,681,097.01 1,686,035.09 

     

Suppliers of intangibles with third-
parties 

 -  227,325.88 - 747,737.62 

     

Suppliers of intangibles - 227,325.88 - 747,737.62 

     

Total balances from non-trade 
transactions 1,288,609.83 960,304.23 5,681,097.01 2,433,772.71 

     

Total Liabilities and payables 1,288,609.83 1,358,487.31 5,681,097.01 2,800,316.70 
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9.2 Loans, lines of credit and discount facilities 

 
The terms and conditions of the loans and payables as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: 

 

Loans Currency Nominal rate 

Year of 

maturity Nominal value Current Non-current 

       
Group and 
associated 
companies  
Mondo TV, S.p.A. 

Euros Euribor +3% 31/12/2023 5,399,786.39 65,932.43 849,239.47 

       

Non-related       

Bankinter Euros 2.75% 15/11/2021 200,000.00  66,759.72       62,821.94      

MyTripleA Euros Euribor +1.5% 13/11/2021 223,200.00  4,279.76       210,948.44      

Sabadell Euros 3.75% 31/07/2021 225,000.00  75,905.41       45,982.52      

Santander Euros 2.44% 27/07/2021 600,000.00  202,512.39       119,617.46      

       

Total    6,647,986.39 415,389.71 1,288,609.83 

       

 
The Company has the following lines of credit as well as discount facilities as at 31 December 2019: 

 
Lines of 
credit/Discount 
facilities Currency Nominal rate 

Year of 

maturity Limit Drawn Undrawn 

       
Non-related       

Abanca Euros 2.50% 25/09/2020 140,000.00  30,634.00       109,366.00      

Bankia Euros 3.15% 21/06/2020 100,000.00  89,958.70       10,041.30      

BBVA Euros 4.25% 30/05/2020 125,000.00  6,609.68       118,390.32      

BBVA Euros 3.95% 29/05/2020 125,000.00  125,000.00       -        

BancaMarch Dollars 5.10% 26/06/2020 98,214.40  40,560.56       57,653.84      

       

       

Credit card       

BBVA Euros 0.00% 01/02/2022 6,000.00 2.999.98 3,000.02 

       

Total    594,241.40 295,762.92 298,451.48 

       
Total loans and other 
borrowings    7,242,200.79 711,152.63 1,288,609.23 

       

On 29 March 2019, the parent wrote off the amount of €1,600,000.00 of the outstanding debt of the 

participating loan, thus bolstering the net equity of the Company and reducing its debt (see Note 

20). 

In 2019, the Company also reduced its debt with the Parent by paying a total of €2,802,614.81.  
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9.3 Debentures and convertible bonds 
 
The debentures and convertible bonds in Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. correspond to the issue of two 
tranches in 2017 and the issue of one tranche in 2018 of 20 debentures with a nominal value of €10,000 
each one, in favour of Atlas Special Opportunities, with the exclusion of the pre-emption right of the 
current shareholders of the Company, which have generated a total amount of €600,000. 
 
At its meeting of 28 September 2018, the Board of Directors of the Company agreed to partially 
execute the capital increase to cover the request to convert thirty-four (34) convertible debentures, 
corresponding to the entirety of the first tranche and to 14 of the second tranche. As a result of the 
foregoing, the share capital was increased by thirty-four thousand six hundred and twenty-six Euros 
and sixty cents (€34,626.60), through the creation of six hundred and ninety-two thousand five 
hundred and thirty-two (692,532) shares with a nominal value of five cents (€0.05). With the execution 
of these capital increases the debt of Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. fell by three hundred and forty 
thousand Euros (€340,000) and Atlas Special Opportunities is the recipient of shares representing 6.5% 
of the share capital of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, shares that will be returned to Mondo TV S.p.A through 
the Share Lending Agreement. 
 
At its meeting of 16 May 2019, the Board of Directors of the Company agreed to execute the capital 
increase to cover the request to convert twenty-six (26) convertible debentures, corresponding to the 
six debentures of the second tranche and to 20 of the third tranche. As a result of the foregoing, the 
share capital was increased by fifty-eight thousand nine-hundred and twenty-two Euros (€58,922) 
through the creation of one million one hundred and seventy-eight thousand for hundred and forty 
(1,178,440) shares with a nominal value of five cents (€0.05) each one. With the execution of this last 
capital increase the Company’s debt fell by two hundred and sixty thousand Euros (€260,000) and Atlas 
Special Opportunities was the recipient of shares representing 9.9% of the share capital of Mondo TV 
Iberoamérica, shares that have been returned to Mondo TV S.p.A through the Share Lending 
Agreement. The shares have been issued with validity as of 30 July 2019, inclusive. 
 
Mondo TV Iberoamérica entered into an agreement for the issue of convertible debentures and 

warrants with Atlas Yield Fund and Atlas Capital Markets by virtue of which the Company had to 

issue convertible debentures of a single class and series for an amount of up to €5,400,000 divided 

among 540 convertible debentures with a nominal value of €10,000 each one, to be issued over a 

period of 5 years and with a maturity period of 5 years from the issue date of each debenture. The 

issuance of the convertible debentures was up to 27 tranches, of 20 convertible debentures each 

one. 

On the basis of the same contract three warrants will be issued on the basis of the same agreement, 
which will grant the right to subscribe to seventy seven shares of the Company in the case of “Warrant 
1”, at a price of €1.55 per share, 231,000 shares of the Company in the case of “Warrant 2” at a price 
of one Euro ninety cents (€1.90) per share, and 77,000 shares of the Company in the case of “Warrant 
3”, at a price of two Euros thirty-eight cents (€2.38) per share. The period for exercising the warrants 
is between 1 October 2017 and 1 October 2020. The warrants will be immediately and voluntarily 
convertible at the discretion of the holder. The funds obtained from the transaction will be used to 
cover the working capital needs of the Company, and in particular for the co-production of series. 
 
The fees and costs associated with the transaction totalled €128,000 and were assumed by the 
Company. Similarly, the Company shall assume the costs associated with the approval of the capital 
increases required to attend to the request to convert the convertible debentures and warrants. In 
relation to the aforementioned agreement, Mondo TV Iberoamérica, Atlas Special Opportunities, Atlas 
Capital Markets and Mondo TV S.p.A., the major shareholder of the Company, have entered into a 
share lending agreement whereby the latter agrees to lend Atlas Capital Markets a sufficient number 
of shares for a minimum period of time so as to permit the exercise of the conversion right of the 
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latter from the notification date of such exercise and until the approval by the Company of the 
corresponding capital increase that will attend to the conversion. 
 
On 10 July 2019, the Company and the companies Atlas Special Opportunities and Atlas Capital 

Markets, mutually decided to terminate the issuance contract for convertible debentures and 

warrants, called “Subscription Agreement for Convertible Bonds and Warrants Attached” (the 

“Subscription Agreement”), with regard to the issuance of the 480 convertible debentures 

outstanding as at that date. 60 debentures of the 540 convertible debentures detailed in the 

contract were issued and converted into shares. The “Subscription Agreement” will remain in force 

with regard to the issuance of the three warrants detailed in the contract, as well as regard to the 

terms and conditions thereof. 

As at 31 December 2019, all the tranches issued had been converted for a total of €600,000. 

 
9.4 Other information relating to financial liabilities 

 
9.4.1 Classification by maturity 

 
The breakdown by maturity as at 31 December 2019 is as follows: 

 
 

Maturity by year 

 
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 

More 
than 5 
years Total 

        

Debts 868,266.32 439,370.36 - - - - 1,307,636.68 

Bank 
borrowings 

640,940.44 228,421.92 - - - - 869,362.36 

Other financial 
liabilities 

227,325.88 210,948.44 - - - - 438,274.32 

        
Borrowings 
with Group 
and associates 

65,932.43 63,941.31 66,382.08 718,916.08 - - 915,171.90 

Borrowings 
with Group 
and associates 

65,932.43 63,941.31 66,382.08 718,916.08 - - 915,171.90 

        
Trade and 
other 
payables 

424,288.56 - - - - - 424,288.56 

Suppliers - 
group 
companies and 
associates 

53,474.14 - - - - - 53,474.14 

Sundry 
accounts 
payable 

344,708.94 - - - - - 344,708.94 

Staff 26,105.48 - - - - - 26,105.48 

        

Total  1,358,487.31 503,311.67 66,382.08 718,916.08 - - 2,647,097.14 

        

 
10.INFORMATION ON DEFERRAL OF PAYMENT PERIODS TO SUPPLIERS 

ADDITIONAL DISPOSITION THREE “DUTY TO INFORM” OF LAW 15/2010, OF 
5 JULY 
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Resolution of 29 January 2016 of the Spanish Institute of Accounting and Account Auditing concerning 
the information to be included in the Notes to the financial statements in relation to the average 
payment period to suppliers in trade transactions was published on 4 February 2016. Its purpose is to 
comply with the express mandate contained in Law 31/2014 of 3 December, repealing the immediate 
antecedent in the matter, the Resolution of 29 December 2010 of the Institute of Accounting and 
Account Auditing concerning the information to be included in the Notes to the consolidated financial 
statements in relation to the average payment period to suppliers in trade transactions, which has its 
origins in the previous wording of additional provision three of Law 15/2010 of 5 July, amending Law 
3/2004 of 29 December.  

 
The Company informs that the average payment period to suppliers in 2019 and 2018 was as follows: 

 

 2019  
Days 

2018  
Days 

   

Average payment period to suppliers 75.22 96.37 

Ratio of operations paid 62.66 47.73 

Ratio of operations pending payment 103.69 166.20 

   
 Amount (Euros) Amount (Euros) 
   
Total payments made 605,343.30 438,515.71 

Total payments pending 266,947.74 336,764.51 

   
   
   

During the year, the Company exceeded the legally established maximum payment period for trade 
suppliers of 60 days due to lower revenue as a result of going through a period of great investment 
where part of the existing income is received over a period of up to two years, causing stress in terms 
of cash flow and delayed payments. Thanks to the adoption of measures such as confirming, non-
recourse factoring and the search for financing more appropriate to the projects, the Company has 
managed to reduce the average payment period to suppliers from 96.37 to 75.22. 

 
11. GROUP, MULTI-GROUP AND ASSOCIATES 

 
The composition and changes in the shareholdings held in Group, Multi-Group and associates 
corresponding to 2019, in Euros is as follows: 

 

 01/01/2019 Additions Disposals 31/12/2019 
     
Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. 3,006.00 2,896,994.00 - 2,900,000.00 
     
     

 
On 14 and 28 December 2018, the Company increased its capital in Mondo TV Producciones Canarias 
S.L.U. by €496,994.00 and €1,800,000.00 through the partial offsetting of the participating loan to 
address the losses caused by the irreversible impairment of “Heidi, Bienvenida al Show” and to 
maintain the equity/capital ratio above 50%. The capital increase was entered in the Companies 
Register on 26 March 2019. 
Furthermore, on 5 September 2019 another €600,000 of the participating loan was converted into 
capital, ultimately bolstering the equity of the subsidiary.  
 
The composition and changes in the shareholdings held in Group, Multi-Group and associates 
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corresponding to 2018, in Euros is as follows: 

 

 01/01/2018 Additions Disposals 31/12/2018 
     
Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. 3,006.00 - - 3,006.00 
     
     

 
On 23 November 2018, an Economic Interest Association was formed with the requirements established 
by Law 12/1191, of 29 April. Formed under the name “BAT PAT SERIE, E.I.A.” its corporate purpose is 
to produce, create, distribute and market the “Bat Pat 2” series within Spain and internationally. 
Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. holds a 99% shareholding whereas the remaining 1% is held by 
Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. Notwithstanding, its economic activity began on 1 January 2019. 
 
On 8 July 2019, another Economic Interest Association was formed with the requirements established 
by Law 12/1191, of 29 April. Formed under the name “Nina y Olga, E.I.A.” its corporate purpose is to 
produce, create, distribute and market the “Nina y Olga” series within Spain and internationally. 
Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. holds a 99% shareholding whereas the remaining 1% is held by 
Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. Both productions are currently in progress, with no economic-fiscal 
impact on the annual accounts of Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. 

 
A summary of shareholdings, the registered address and the activities carried on by the investees as 
at 31 December 2019 is detailed below: 

 

Company 

Direct 
Shareholding 

% 

Direct 
Shareholding 

% Registered address Activity 
     

Mondo TV 
Producciones 
Canarias, 
S.L.U. 

100.00 - 
Calle Rambla de Pulido 42-
1, 38004 Santa Cruz de 
Tenerife 

Cinematographic 
distribution, production 
and post-production 
activities for video and 
television programmes. 

BAT PAT 
SERIE, E.I.A. 

1.00 99.00 
Calle Rambla de Pulido 42-
1, 38004 Santa Cruz de 
Tenerife 

Cinematographic 
distribution, production 
and post-production 
activities for video and 
television programmes. 

Nina y Olga, 
E.I.A. 

1.00 99.00 
Calle Rambla de Pulido 42-
1, 38004 Santa Cruz de 
Tenerife 

Cinematographic 
distribution, production 
and post-production 
activities for video and 
television programmes. 

     

     

     

It should be noted that the E.I.A.s have been formed without capital, as indicated in the articles of 
association. 
 
The investees are not listed on the Stock Exchange. 
 
The summary of shareholders’ equity, according to the audited financial statements (except the 
E.I.A.s), of the investees is detailed as follows, in Euros: 
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Company 
Balance 

sheet date Share Capital Reserves 
Result for the 

year 
Total net 

equity 
      

Group Companies:      

Mondo TV Producciones 
Canarias, S.L.U. 31/12/2019 2,900,000.00 263,632.18 408,685.88 862,519.20 

BAT PAT SERIE, E.I.A. 31/12/2019 - - - - 

Nina y Olga, E.I.A. 31/12/2019 - - - - 
      

      

      

The investment in Mondo TV Producciones Canarias, S.L.U.is considered to be recoverable according 
to the Business Plan prepared by its Management, subject to the fulfilment of said plan. 
Notwithstanding, it should be noted that part of the revenue forecast for 2020 and 2021 is already 
guaranteed by signed contracts. 

 
 
 

12.INFORMATION ON THE NATURE AND LEVEL OF RISK OF FINANCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS 

 
The Company’s activities are exposed to different types of financial risks, the most significant being 
credit risk, liquidity risk and market risks (exchange rate, interest rate, and other price risks). 
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12.1 Credit risk 

 
The main financial assets of the Company are petty cash and cash, trade and other receivables, and 
investments which represent the maximum exposures of the Company to credit risk with regard to 
financial assets. 
 
The credit risk of the Company is mostly due to its trade receivables. The amounts are reflected in 
the statement of financial position, net of provisions for bankruptcies, estimated by the Company’s 
Management based on the experience of previous years and its assessment of the current economic 
environment. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, the Company had arranged two lines of recourse factoring with several banks 
and has access to the possibility of non-recourse factoring to mitigate the customer risk. There is no 
drawndown balance (€89,078.92 in 2018). 

 
12.2 Liquidity risk 

 
The Company continuously monitors the evolution of the different factors that could generate liquidity 
risk. The main sources of financing that the Company uses to address its working capital needs are as 
follows: 
 
- Lines of credit for a maximum of €594,000, of which €295,000 have been drawn down (see note 

9.1). 
- Loans with banks for the amount of €1,248,200, of which €789,000 remain outstanding (see Note 

9.1). 
- Loans granted by the parent Mondo TV, S.p.A (see Note 19). 
 
The Company's Directors in accordance with their treasury plan consider that it has sufficient financing 
available to address its working capital needs. Provided there are no significant variations in the 
business plan and the treasury plan, the generation of cash of the Company together with the lines of 
credit contracted, should be sufficient to address the working capital requirements. Should there be 
significant variations in the business plan, and the company is unable to honour its short-term payment 
obligations, the parent Mondo TV S.p.A expressly undertakes to assist the Group should it require 
financing during the coming financial year. In the case that such financing is granted, it would be 
under the same conditions as the existing financing, i.e., at an annual interest rate of 3M Euribor plus 
an annual margin of 3%.  
 
As previously mentioned in Note 11, and as a way to diversify its sources of financing, the Company is 
listed on the Alternative Equity Market. 

 
12.3 Exchange rate risk 

 
The Company is not exposed to a significant exchange rate risk, therefore it does not perform hedging 
operations with financial instruments. However, when the Company deems it appropriate, it protects 
itself against the fluctuations in the exchange rate, especially in US dollars, at no cost.  
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12.4 Interest rate risk 

 
Fluctuations in the interest rate change the fair value of those assets and liabilities that accrue a fixed 
rate of interest as well as the future cash flows of the assets and liabilities referenced to a variable 
interest.  
 
The goal in the management of interest rate risk is to reach a balance between the structure of the 
debt which allows the cost of the debt on the multi-year time horizon to be minimised with a reduced 
volatility in the Income Statement (see Directors’ Report). 

 
 

13. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 

13.1 Share Capital 
 
On 31 December 2019, the Company’s capital is represented by 59,354,860 ordinary bearer shares of 
0.05 cents each one, fully subscribed and paid up. All these shares have the same voting and economic 
rights.  
 
On 31 December 2018, the Company’s capital is represented by 10,692,532 ordinary bearer shares of 
0.05 cents each one, fully subscribed and paid up. All these shares have the same voting and economic 
rights. 
 
The share price as at 31 December 2019 stood at €0.32 per share, as at 31 December 2018 it was €0.23 
per share. 
 
On 21 April 2016, the Sole-Shareholder approved the transformation of the Company into a public 
limited company. To do so, the Company split the shares through the reduction of their nominal value 
of €10 to €0.01, thus cancelling the old securities and exchanging them for new shares. 
 
On 22 June 2017, Mondo TV S.P.A, the Sole Shareholder of the Company, agreed to a capital increase 
by subscribing 40,000,000 new registered shares with a nominal value of €0.01. 
 
The capital increase was carried out by a monetary contribution for the full amount, paying Mondo 
Tv, S.p.A. a total of €400,000. 
 
On 21 December 2016, the Board of Directors of Bolsas y Mercados Españoles, Sistemas de Negociación, 
S.A. in accordance with the powers conferred by the Regulations of the Mercado Alternativo Bursátil 
(Alternative Equity Market) and Circular 14/2016 of 26 July, agreed to admit to trading in the Growth 
Companies segment of said market, effective as of 23 December 2016, 10 million shares with a nominal 
value of €0.05 each one of the Company, Mondo TV. Iberoamérica, S.A. These securities are 
represented by the book-entry method and are fully paid up. 
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On 28/09/2018 the Company’s Board of Directors agreed to increase the capital by €34,626.60 with 
an issue premium of €305,373.40, through the issue and circulation of 692,532 new ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of €0.05 each one, of the same class as the shares in circulation and with the 
same rights and represented by bearer shares.  
 
On 16/05/2019 the Company’s Board of Directors agreed to increase the capital by €58,922.00 with 
an issue premium of €201,078.00, through the issue and circulation of 1,178,440 new ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of €0.05 each one, of the same class as the shares in circulation and with the 
same rights and represented by bearer shares. These shares were included in the MAB on 30 July 2019. 
 
As indicated in Note 16, on 10 July 2019 the General Shareholders’ Meeting of Mondo TV Iberoamérica 
approved a share capital increase through monetary contributions, in the amount of three million four 
hundred and ninety-nine thousand nine hundred and eighty-nine Euros and ninety cents 
(€3,499,989.90), without waiver of the pre-emptive rights and the possibility of an incomplete 
subscription, through the issuance and circulation of the corresponding new shares with a nominal 
value of €0.05 each one. 
 
On 27 December 2019, the capital increase was filed with the Companies Register with a payment of 
100%, whereas the shares began to be traded on 13 January 2020.  

 

The changes in shares in circulation are as follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 2018 
   
At 1 January 10,692,532 10,000,000 
Conversion of debentures into shares 1,178,440 692,532 
Capital increase 47,483,888 - 
At 31 December 59,354,860 10,692,532 
   
   
   

 
The companies with a direct or indirect shareholding equal to or greater than 10% of the share capital 
of the Company are as follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 No. of Shares 
Direct 

shareholding % No. of Shares 
Direct 

shareholding % 

  
 

 
 

Mondo TV, S.p.A. 47,053,947 79.28% 7,622,706 71.29% 
     

 47,053,947 79.28% 7,622,706 71.29% 
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13.2 Reserves 

 
The breakdown of Reserves is as follows: 
 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   

Legal reserve 62,702.55 62,702.55 

Other reserves 456,901.87 456,901.87 

   

Total 519,604.42 519,604.42 

   

 
13.2.1 Legal reserve 

 
The Legal Reserve is restricted with regard to its use, which is determined by various legal provisions. 
In accordance with the Corporate Enterprises Act, companies obtaining a profit and which operate 
under said legal form, are obliged to allocate 10% to the legal reserve until this reaches an amount 
representing 20% of the subscribed share capital. The legal reserve can be used to offset losses or to 
increase capital by the amount that exceeds 10% of the already increased capital, as well as be 
distributed among Shareholders in the case of dissolution. As at 31 December 2019, the Legal Reserve 
was not fully provisioned, registering an amount of €62,702.55. As at 31 December 2018, the Legal 
Reserve was not fully provisioned, registering an amount of €62,702.55. 
 

13.3 Other shareholder contributions 
 
On 29 March 2019, the parent wrote off the amount of €1.600.000,00 of the outstanding debt of the 
participating loan, thus bolstering the net equity of the Company and reducing its debt (see Note 18). 
In accordance with the accounting legislation, this operation must be recognised as a shareholder 
contribution from Mondo TV S.p.A. as at the date of the write-off (74.24%) and the difference 
(€412,160) as income. 
 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
Other shareholder contributions 1,187,840.00 - 
   

 1,187,840.00 - 
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14. FOREIGN CURRENCY 

 
The most significant balances in foreign currency at the year-end are those detailed below: 

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Amount in Euros 
Amount in 

Dollars 
Amount in 

Euros 
Amount in 

Dollars 

     
Current assets     

Trade and other receivables 206,472.25 290,948.08 408,871.95 460,190.00 

Cash and cash equivalents 90,774.62 100,875.57 26,004.17 29,883.97 

     

Current liabilities     

Bank borrowings 40,560.56 45,440.73 - - 

Trade and other payables 146,203.97 163,818.60 265,958.62 305,639.23 

     
Total  538,011.40 601,082.98 700,834.74 795,713.20 

     
 
The amount of the exchange differences recognised in the income statement  
are as follows: 

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Settled Outstanding Settled Outstanding 

     
Current assets     

Trade and other receivables 866.27 4,081.16 3,937.21 (8,568.33) 

Cash and cash equivalents (1,809.43) (1,149.50) 8,667.72 8,379.91  

     
Current liabilities     
Current debts - (1,485.37) - - 

Trade and other payables (1,413.36) (18,301.40) 2,830.29 3,037.07  

     
Total (2,356.52) (16,855.11) 15,435.22 2,848.65  
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15. TAX MATTERS 

 
The detail of the balances with Public Administrations at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 is 
shown below, in Euros: 

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Receivable Payable Receivable Payable 
     
Non-current     

Deferred tax assets 89,520.62 - 89,520.62 - 
     
 89,520.62 - 89,520.62 - 
     
Current:     

Tax refund 125,052.36 - 243,372.36 2,949.72 

Income tax withholdings and payments on 
account 255,214.53 - 224,329.93 - 

Personal income tax (IRPF) withholdings - 61,152.97 - 69,842.54 

Income tax - - - - 

Social Security - 5,884.97 - 13,117.39 
     
 380,266.89 67,037.94 467,702.29 85,909.65 

 
Tax matters 
 
According to current tax regulations, taxes cannot be considered as finally settled until they have 
either been inspected by the Tax Authorities or until the four-year statute-of-limitations has expired. 
Subsequently, as a result of possible inspections, additional liabilities in addition to those recognised 
by the Company may arise. Notwithstanding, the Directors of the Company consider that any such 
liabilities, should they arise, would not be significant considering the Consolidated Financial 
Statements as a whole. 
 
Tax returns cannot be considered as finally settled until they have been inspected by the Tax 
Authorities or until the four-year statute-of-limitations has expired. 
 
In July 2019, the Company received €206,752.19 corresponding to the refund of taxes paid, specifically 
VAT. 
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Income tax 
 
The reconciliation between the net income and expense for the year and the taxable base of the 
income tax is as follows: 

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

 Income Statement Income Statement 

Result for the 
year -  -  (301,523.35) -  -  (2,858,247.01) 

       

 Increases Decreases Net effect Increases Decreases Net effect 
 

      
Permanent 
differences 71,891.85 - 71,891.85  (25,000.00)  (25,000.00)  

       

Temporary 
differences: 140,931.09 358,974.10 (218,043.01) -  -  -  

       

Taxable profit 
(tax loss)     (447,674.51) -  -  (2,883,247.01)  

       

       
Tax loss 
carryforwards 
from previous 
financial years -  - - -  -  -  

       

       

       

Taxable profit (tax loss)                (447,674.51)   (2,883,247.01)

      

Tax rate                                       0.25   0.25  
    
Gross tax liability                                               
-   6,250.00  

    
Withholdings                                                
- 

  -  

    
Net Tax Liability                                               
- 

  6,250.00  

 
Partial payments                               (14.306,82) 

 
Net amount payable/receivable                   (14.306,82)  (6,250.00)  
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The calculations performed in relation to the tax expense are as follows: 
 

 2019 2018 

   
Profit before tax (301,523.35) (2,864,497.01) 

Permanent differences  71,891.85 (25,000.00) 

Temporary differences (218,043.01) - 

Gross accounting profit (447,674.51) (2,889,497.01) 

   
Gross tax - (6,250.00)  

   
Carry-forward losses not applied  -  

   
Tax expense  - (6,250.00)  

   
 
The main elements of the Income Tax expense are the following: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Current tax expense   -  -  
Deferred tax - (6,250.00) 
   
Total - (6,250.00) 
   

 
 
The changes in taxes generated and cancelled at 31 December 2019 are detailed below, in Euros: 

 
  Income Statement  

 
Balance at 
31/12/2018 Generated Applied Others 

Balance at 
31/12/2019 

      
Active deferred 
taxes:      
Accounting and tax 
amortisation 
differences 83,270.62 - - - 83,270.62 
Provisions 6,250.00 - - - 6,250.00 
      
      
 89,520.62 - - - 89,520.62 
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The changes in taxes generated and cancelled for 2018 are detailed below, in Euros: 

 
  Income Statement  

 
Balance at 
31/12/2017 Generated Applied Others 

Balance at 
31/12/2018 

      
Active deferred 
taxes:      
Accounting and tax 
amortisation 
differences 83,270.62 - - - 83,270.62 
Provisions - 6,250.00 - - 6,250.00 
      
 83,270.62 6,250.00 - - 89,520.62 
      

 
The amount and period of application of the temporary deductible differences, tax loss carry forwards 
and other tax credits, that have not been applied in the balance sheet are as follows: 

 

 
Year Amount 

   
Tax loss carryforwards 2018 2,889,497.01 
Tax loss carryforwards 2019 447,674.51 
Temporary deductible differences 2019 140,931.09 
   
Total  3,478,102.61 
   

The Company can offset the tax loss carryforwards using the positive income from the following tax 
periods with a limit of 70.00% of the tax base prior to the application of the capitalisation reserve and 
its offset. Notwithstanding, in any event, up to €1 million of tax loss carryforwards can be offset during 
the tax period.  
 

 
16. INCOME AND EXPENSE 

 
16.1 Provisions 

 
The composition of this heading of the attached Income Statement is as follows, in Euros: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Other external expenses 15,486.50 37,129.73 
   
Total Provisions 15,486.50 37,129.73 
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16.2 Employee benefit costs 

 
The composition of this heading of the attached Income Statement is as follows: 
 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Social Security payable by the company 48,567.42 34,626.43 
   
Employee benefit costs 48,567.42 34,626.43 

    

16.3 Operating subsidies included in the year’s profit(loss) 
 
The composition of this heading of the attached Income Statement is as follows: 
 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Allocation of subsidies 412,160.00 - 
   
Total 412,160.00 - 

 
In the first half of 2019, part of loan that the company held with Mondo TV S.p.A. in the amount of 
€1,600,000 was written off and the amount of €1,187,840, the equivalent of the shareholding that 
Mondo TV S.p.A. held in Mondo TV Iberoamérica, became part of the equity of the company under the 
heading “Other shareholder contributions”, and the difference of €412,160 was recognised in the 
income statement under “Operating subsidies included in the year’s profit(loss)” 
 

17. ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION 

 
The Company does not have assets of any significance nor has it incurred any expenses destined to 
minimising the impact on the environment or the protection and improvement of the environment. 
Similarly, there are no provisions for risks and costs or contingencies relating to the protection and 
improvement of the environment. 

 
18. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
On 15 January 2020, the Company signed a contract for the development of an audiovisual project 
with Isla Audiovisual, S.L. which will consist in the creation and determination of the original idea and 
the creation of the bible, creation and writing of the pilot script and the creation of a teaser. 
 
On 1 march 2020, the Company signed a licence renewal agreement with the British company, Turner 

Broadcasting System Europe Limited, for a period of five years, to transmit, disseminate and distribute 

as of March 2020, seasons 1 and 2 of the series “Yo Soy Franky”, consisting of 60 episode each, in Italy, 

Vatican City, Monte Carlo, Malta and San Marino. 

After the events caused by the COVID-19 virus, the Company had already prepared itself beforehand 

and structured itself so that it could carry on operating from the homes of each of its workers. It is 

hoped that in this manner, the obligation to work from home should not affect either the business or 

the results, as everyone is aware of how important it is for the company to carry on in its established 

objectives. 
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No credit risk is anticipated which could affect the company, given that almost the entire balance 

outstanding is with Netflix. Therefore, there is no forecast impairment of the financial assets 

(including the loan and the investment in Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U.). With regard to 

market risk, the Company does not foresee that it will be significantly affected in the event of a 

fluctuation in the USD/€ exchange rate. 

With regards to liquidity risk, there are no covenants that could be affected by this situation, 
therefore, the Company does not have a risk of early repayment of loans (which all end in 2021) or 
the closing of credit lines. Furthermore, the Company is closing financing contracts that could be 
delayed by a few days due to the exceptional circumstances of the situation, and the banks have 
already been contacted for possible ICO loans guaranteed by the State should these be required. 
Notwithstanding, the company has the financial support of the parent which has sufficient cash. With 
regards to the contracts that depend on third parties due to the present circumstances, these may 
delay decisions to purchase or enter into co-production. We are unable to say with any certainty how 
much time we are talking about until this is specified in the negotiations that remain pending.  We 
can make ourselves stronger given that television and the platforms continue to require content, 
especially during these times when the consumption of television has increased exponentially due to 
the fact that the population, not only in Spain, is confined to their homes. We firmly believe that 
because of this, we can carry on with our projects without too much of a penalty due to the delays in 
the decisions of our clients. 
 
It should be noted that as at the date of this report, the Company had already closed turnover figure 
for 2020 amounting to 87.98% of the turnover of 2019. 
 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
19.1 Balances between related-parties 

 
The breakdown of the balances with related parties (Mondo TV S.p.A) is as follows, in Euros: 

 

Mondo TV, S.p.A. 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
  

 CURRENT ASSETS - 96,711.21 
   
Trade and other receivables:   
Trade receivables for sales and services - 96,711.21 
   
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES (849,239.47) (4,691,955.96) 
   
Non-current debts:   
Non-current loans (1) (199,239.47) (2,441,955.96) 
Non-current participating loans (1) (650,000.00) (2,250,000.00) 
   
CURRENT LIABILITIES (65,932.43) (526,198.15) 

   
Current debts:   
Borrowings with Group companies (1) (61,590.31) (250,014.78) 
Interest on borrowings (4,342.12) (111,583.37) 
Other financial liabilities - (164,600.00) 
   
   

   
 
 



Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, S.A. for 2019 28 

 

 

The breakdown of the balances with related parties (Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U.) is as 
follows, in Euros: 

 

Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
  

 NON-CURRENT ASSETS 697,308.14 3,530,279.77 
   
Non-current investments in group and associates   
Non-current loans to group and associates 697,308.14 3,530,279.77 
   
CURRENT ASSETS 288,527.66 617,211.19 
   

Current investments in Group companies and associates   
Current loans to group and associates 195,148.31 353,547.58 
Other financial assets 80,179.17 263,663.61 
   Trade and other receivables:   
Trade receivables for sales and services 13,200.18 - 
   
CURRENT LIABILITIES 53,474.14 - 

   
Trade and other payables:   
Suppliers - group companies and associates 53,474.14  
   
   

   
(1) On 16 June 2016 an agreement was executed for a loan granted by Mondo TV S.p.A for the purpose 
of financing a co-production project that Mondo Iberoamérica during the financial year for an amount 
of principal of €2,450,000. 

 
On 2 January 2018, the principal of the loan agreement was amended to the amount of €5,399,786.36, 
thus formalising the financing for "Heidi I” and “Heidi II”. 
 
During 2018, part of the loan (€2,250,000) with Mondo TV S.p.A. was transformed into a participating 
loan maturing in 2023, however, in the first half of 2019, Mondo TV S.p.A. wrote off the amount of 
€1,600,000 and €1,187,840, the equivalent of the shareholding that Mondo TV S.p.A. held in Mondo 
TV Iberoamérica, which became part of the equity of the company under the heading “Other 
shareholder contributions”.  
 
In 2019, the Company reduced its debt with the Parent by paying a total of €2,802,614.81, including 
debt repayment, interest and the financial account. 
 

The borrowing as at 31 December 2019 totalled €910,829.78, accruing a rate of interest of Euribor + 

3%. 

 
The borrowings as at 31 December 2018 totalled €5,218,154.11, accruing a rate of interest of Euribor 
+ 3%. 
 
The amortisation of the loan is established at 5 years with fixed amounts and maturing on 31/12/2023, 
however, the Company has agreed with Mondo TV S.p.A. that should it be necessary, it would 
reschedule the payments of the borrowings or grant new lines of credit.  
 
(2) In 2018, the entire loan with Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. was transformed into a 
participating loan falling due in 2023. 
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On 14 and 28 December 2018, Mondo TV Producciones Canarias decided to increase its capital by 
€496,994.00 and €1,800,000.00 through the partial offsetting of the participating loan with Mondo TV 
Iberoamérica S.A. to address the losses caused by the irreversible impairment of “Heidi, Bienvenida 
al Show” and to maintain the equity/capital ratio above 50%. The capital increase was entered in the 
Companies Register on 26 March 2019. 
 
Furthermore, on 5 September 2019, €600,000 of the participating loan was converted into capital, 
ultimately bolstering the equity of the subsidiary. 
 
The loan outstanding as at 31 December 2019 totalled €912,864.94, accruing a rate of interest of 
Euribor + 3%. 
 
The loan outstanding as at 31 December 2018 totalled €3,809,858.94, accruing a rate of interest of 
Euribor + 3%. 
 
On 10 July 2019, the Company agreed to act as guarantor for a line of credit taken out by the company 
Mondo TV Producciones Canarias, S.L.U. with the entity Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. in the 
amount of €145,000 Euros.   
 

 
19.2 Related-party transactions 

 
The most significant transactions carried out with parties are as follows: 

 

Mondo TV, S.p.A. 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
REVENUE 527,988.29 67,144.24 

   
Rendering of services 400,000.00 - 
Other operating income 127,988.29 67,144.24 

   
COSTS 71,617.80 107,163.13 

   
Finance costs 71,617.80 107,163.13 
   
    
   

As agreed by the parties, the reinvoicing of the costs related to being listed on the MAB is recognised 
under the heading “Other operating income”. 

 
 

Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U. 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
REVENUE 201,495.27 73,968.41 

   
Other operating income 150,451.77 - 
Finance income 51,043.50 73,968.41 

 
    

 
The heading “Other operating income” includes the reinvoicing of the current management fees for 
the services centralised at Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. 
 



Financial Statements and Directors’ Report of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, S.A. for 2019 30 

 

 

With regard to transactions with key personnel of the management of the Company or the Parent 

exceeding 1% of the capital, directly or indirectly, as at 31 December 2019 is as follows:  

− Mr Matteo Corradi, Director and Chairperson of the Company, has a direct and indirect 

shareholding of 2.79% and 5.55% (a total shareholding of 8.34%). 

As at 31 December 2018, the breakdown was as follows: 

− Mr Matteo Corradi, Director and Chairperson of the Company, has a direct and indirect 

shareholding of 1.87% and 5.86% (a total shareholding of 3.99%). 

 

19.3 Balances and Transactions with Directors and Senior Management 
 
The amounts received by the Directors in 2019 and 2018 are detailed below in Euros: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Senior Management 205,930.95 387,074.12 
Directors 126,322.32 111,322.32 
   
Total 332,253.27 498,396.44 
   

 
On 31 December 2019, with the aim of optimising the Company's costs, the CEO of the Company, Maria 
Bonaria Fois, updated the terms and conditions of her contract, effective as of 1 December 2019, in 
which her variable remuneration is now linked to the net sales margin and to the monetary financing 
contributed to the productions by third-parties whereas previously it was linked to the gross sales and 
to the total financing of the productions for all concepts. 
 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 there were no commitments undertaken for pensions, bonds or 
guarantees granted to the Board of Directors. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, the Directors of the Company, as defined in the Corporate Enterprises Act, 
did not communicate to the other members of the Board of Directors any situations of a conflict of 
interests, either direct or indirect, that they, or persons related thereto, may have, regarding the 
interests of the Company. 
 
Similarly, in accordance with the abovementioned Corporate Enterprises Act, the members of the 
Governing Body are informed that no activity has been performed, either on its own behalf or on 
behalf of another party, with the Company that may be considered outside of the ordinary course of 
business which has not been performed under normal market conditions. 
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20. OTHER INFORMATION 

 
20.1 Staff 

 
The average number of employees in 2019 and 2018, broken down by category, is as follows: 

 
 

31/12/2019 31/12/2018 

   
Senior Management 1.00 1.77 
Administrative and similar 2.75 1.38 
Sales, commercial personnel and similar 0.00 0.00 
   
Total 3.75 3.15 
   

 
The distribution of the Company’s personnel at the end of the financial year, by category and 

gender, is as follows: 

 
 31/12/2019 
 Men Women Total 
    
Senior Management - 1 1 
Administrative and similar 1 3 4 
    
Total personnel at year-end 1 4 5 
    
 31/12/2018 
 Men Women Total 
    
Senior Management - 1 1 
Administrative and similar 1 2 3 
    
Total personnel at year-end 1 3 4 
    

 
In 2019 and 2018 there were no employees with a disability equal to or greater than 33%. 

 
20.2 Audit fees 

 
The fees and charges for professional services invoiced by BDO, the Auditor of the Company’s financial 
statements for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 2018, are as follows: 

 

 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
   
Auditing services 29,600.00 29,275.00 
Other services 10,325.00 10,180.00 
   
Total 39,925.00 39,455.00 
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21. SEGMENTED INFORMATION 

 
The distribution of the turnover corresponding to the ordinary activities of the Company, by category 
and/or activity segments, are detailed below:  

 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
Description of the action. Euros % Euros % 
     
Distribution 516,535.43 90.13% 112,629.71 10.94% 
Co-production 10,324.63 1.80% 916,635.62 89.06% 
Others 46,255.00 8.07% 0.00 0.00% 

     
 573,115.06 100% 1,029,265.33 100% 

     

 
The distribution of the turnover corresponding to the ordinary activities of the Company, by geographic 
markets, are detailed below: 
 
 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 
 Euros % Euros % 
 

    
Spain 22,717.16 3.96% 8,000.00 0.78% 
Intra-Community 475,500.00 82.97% 610,465.00 59.31% 
US 11,613.74 2.03% 309,209.54 30.04% 
LATAM 16,837.95 2.94% 81,297.64 7.90% 
Rest of the world 46,446.21 8.10% 20,293.15 1.97% 
     
 573,115.06 100% 1,029,265.33 100% 
     

On 30 September 2019, Mondo TV Iberoamérica signed a contact with Mondo TV S.p.A granting an 
exclusive operating licence over the reproduction, public communication and transformation rights of 
“Heidi Bienvenida”, with the power to sub-license it to third parties, in the following territories: 
Central Europe (excluding Spain, Portugal and Italy(, Eastern Europe, Northern Europe, Arabic 
speaking countries in the Middle East and Africa, Turkey and Israel. The licensing contract has an 
initial duration of ten years and five years for the transfer to third-parties. As consideration for the 
operating licence, Mondo TV S.p.A. will pay Mondo TV Iberoamérica (in addition to the royalties 
obtained as a result of the licences granted to third-parties) €400,000, with both parties agreeing that 
said amount would be deducted from the debt TV Iberoamérica has with Mondo TV S.p.A. 
 
The most important sales in 2019 correspond to the sale of “YSF2 and 3”. 

 
The most significant sales of 2018 correspond to the sale of “Heidi I” to Radio-telephone Publican 
Italian (RAI) and Netflix. 
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MONDO TV IBEROAMÉRICA S.A. 
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 
 
1. SITUATION OF THE COMPANY 

 
Organisational structure 
 
Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. is a producer and distributor of audiovisual content which operates in 
Iberian peninsula and the American continent. It forms part of the Italian Company Mondo TV S.p.A., 
which was incorporated in February 2008 as Mondo TV Spain S.L. In May 2016, the Company changed 
its name and corporate purpose to become Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. for the purpose of being 
admitted to trading on the Alternative Equity Market.  Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U., was 
incorporated in September 2016 with 100% capital of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, with the purpose of 
initially providing animation production services to Mondo TV S.p.A, and then later to third parties. 
Mondo TV Iberoamérica was admitted to trading on the Alternative Equity Market in December 2016. 
 
The company is managed by a General Manager, whose activity and results are controlled by the Board 
of Directors. 
 
The Board of Directors is made up of five directors, three of which are part of the Company and the 
other two are classified as independent. The Board of Directors formed an Audit Committee 
comprising three members, one internal and two independent.  

 
Functioning of the entity 
 
The functioning and activity of Mondo TV Iberoamérica S.A. is carried on along four business lines: 
 

a) Co-production  
 

The search for new co-production activities with the aim of covering the future demand of the market, 
offering content even to different channels in the same territory.  
The first opportunity of this type that the company obtained was the co-production of “Heidi 
Bienvenida a Casa”, for which it produced two seasons of 60 episodes each. With the change of market 
and the entry of SVOD platforms, the Company personalises new co-production opportunities by 
broadening the target in order to reach a more adult audience and have a greater range of offerings 
that allows it to reach more customers. 
 
The consolidation of the market presence through the offering of more series in the medium- to long-
term. The scheme forecasts the preparation of pilot episodes in order to seek out pre-financing or 
pre-sales, thus reducing the financial and operational risk. This is a very good time for the production 
of fiction series, the large American platforms have established their Hub in Spain for the production 
of series aimed as the European and Asian audience. We currently have several projects in the pipeline 
with potential Spanish, American and European partners with the idea of extending our catalogue and 
our revenue, (such as “2050” for example).  
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b) Distribution 
 

The exposure of the series on the most popular channels and at better times, to ensure a maximum 
audience, thus facilitating the sale of Licensing & Merchandising products. This objective is essential 
in the negotiation of the licences because the manufacturers will be more interested in a licence that 
is recognised by the audience, given that this audience will be the end consumer of the products.  
 
When defining the distribution of the territories in which each co-producer will carry out the 
distribution of the series, the Company always tries to maintain the distribution in the highest possible 
number of territories. In addition to the Iberian Peninsula and Latin American territories, the Company 
uses synergy with its Parent Company. Mondo TV S.p.A has an international sales department with its 
headquarters in Rome with a strong presence in the EMEA and Australasian territories. It also has a 
Consumer Product department with its headquarters in Milan for the sale of Licensing and 
Merchandising. The objective is to ensure the pre-sales at the time of production or post-production. 
 
The Company has several distribution agreements with third-party producers to distribute content in 
several territories. One of the most important is the RTVE catalogue that the Company distributes in 
Italy, in addition to other occasional agreements with Spanish and Latin American producers.  The 
sale of this content by third-parties represents revenue with no investment risk, where the margin 
can reach up to 50% 
 

c) Licensing & Merchandising  
 

In the case of series produced or co-produced by the Company, the objective is the sale of the master 
toy to a toy maker to ensure the manufacture and distribution of the base categories of the product 
(toys, games, school material, etc.). This agreement is essential because it guarantees the market 
presence of the product resulting in high consumption and acts as a “driver” for the other categories 
(textile, footwear, food, etc.). In the case of series aimed at adults, there is no forecast sale of a 
master toy, but rather only that of categories of interest for the target, typically textiles and gadgets. 

 
2. EVOLUTION OF THE BUSINESS AND RESULTS 
 
Evolution and trend in revenue 
 

Segment 2016 2017 
Change 

2016-2017 2018 

Change 
2017-
2018 31/12/2019 

Distribution 1,499,674.33 2,669,370.21 78.00% 112,629.71 -95.78% 516,535.43 
Co-production 226,645.29 404,955.17 78.67% 916,635.62 126.35% 10,324.63 

Others - - - - - 46,255.00 
Total revenue 1,726,319.62 3,074,325.38 78.09% 1,029,265.33 -66.52% 573,115.06 

 
The revenue from co-production corresponds to the sales of “Heidi I”, with 2018 being when the most 
significant sales occurred (RAI and Netflix). 
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The distribution segment depends on the agreements and matching between purchase and sale, 
without following a linear evolution. In 2016 almost all revenue originated from the sales of “Yo Soy 
Franky”. In 2017, the most significant sale of the Company was the series “Isabel” to RAI, representing 
63.42% of the total revenue for the year. The decrease in turnover for 2018 and 2019 is firstly due to 
the delay in the negotiation and signing of several significant contracts, which were expected to be 
closed during 2019-2020, and secondly due to the delay in the co-production “2050” for which the 
definitive agreement is about to be closed for the financial structure and the localisation of the 
episodes.  
 
On 30 September 2019, Mondo TV Iberoamérica signed a contact with Mondo TV S.p.A granting an 
exclusive operating licence over the reproduction, public communication and transformation rights 
of “Heidi Bienvenida”, with the power to sub-license it to third parties, in the following territories: 
Central Europe (excluding Spain, Portugal and Italy(, Eastern Europe, Northern Europe, Arabic 
speaking countries in the Middle East and Africa, Turkey and Israel. The licensing contract has an 
initial duration of ten years and five years for the transfer to third-parties. As consideration for the 
operating licence, Mondo TV S.p.A. will pay Mondo TV Iberoamérica (in addition to the royalties 
obtained as a result of the licences granted to third-parties) €400,000, with both parties agreeing 
that said amount would be deducted from the debt TV Iberoamérica has with Mondo TV S.p.A. 
 
 

Evolution and trend in costs 
 

Cost type 2016 2017 
Change 

2016-2017 
2018 

Change 
2017-2018 

2019 

Amortisation and 
depreciation 

783,736.08 1,202,322.65 53.41% 951,716.81 -20.84% 450,399.62 

Irreversible 
impairment 
intangible asset 

- - - 1,541,404.37 100% (14,621.48) 

Staff cost 269,477.61 479,958.04 78.11% 640,198.09 33.39% 482,755.19 
Outsourced 
services 

380,423.92 349,833.29 -8.04% 544,272.72 55.58% 595,691.34 

Finance costs - 20,728.52 100% 119,910.25 478.48% 76,728.45 
Group finance 
costs 

28,516.94 97,150.54 240.68% 107,163.13 10.31% 71,617.80 

 
The decreases in amortisation is due to the irreversible losses of 2018, which have decreased the cost 
value initially recognised of certain of the Company’s assets. These losses correspond mostly to “Heidi 
II”, due to the problems with the licensing, which was much lower than expected and a market 
performance that was below expectations. 
 
Staff costs decreased due to the lower sales commissions associated with the revenue and the new 
method for calculating commissions. 
 
For outsourced services, the most important items causing the cost to increase in 2018 and 2019 are 

those relating to financial advice, the MAB (which is reinvoiced to the Parent) and the capital 

increase. 

Bank financing costs increased in 2018 and 2019 mostly due to the new financing with Banco Sabadell 
over three years for the amount of €225.000 to finance the production of “2050”, with Santander over 
three years for the amount of €600,000 to finance the production of the film “Inolvidable Heidi” and 
the average balance of the lines of credit, due to the difficulties in accessing bank financing during 
2019 (as a result of negative equity). 
 
With regard to financing costs with groups, the financial support of the parent for the working capital 
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increased the accrued interest (3% + Euribor) in 2018, whereas its impact in 2019 fell by 33.17% thanks 
to the repayments received and the write off of part of the debt. 

 
Evolution and trend in profit/(loss) 
 

Profit/(los
s) 2016 2017 

Change 
2016-2017 2018 

Change 
2017-2018 2019 

EBITDA 1,024,590.33 1,697,718.36 65.70% (199,979.23) -111.78% 249,526.07 

Adjusted 
EBITDA 

1,019,590.33 1,665,782.73 63.38% (214,026.81) -112.85% (243,589.69) 

EBIT 240,854.25 495,395.71 105.68% (2,693,100.41) -643.63% (186,252.07) 

Result for 
the year 

160,822.34 437,655.31 172.14% (2,858,247.01) -753.08% (301,523.35) 

 
The EBITDA in 2019 was positive as a result of the recognition of the proportional part of the write 
off of the debt with the parent (see Note 13). The adjusted EBITDA, without considering this income, 
was negative €243,589.69, an improvement on 2018. 
 
The year ended with a loss given that the Company suffered delays in closing some important 
contracts, which, given their economic importance could have a significant impact on the accounts It 
is expected to close one of them in 2020. 

 
Main financial and non-financial indicators 
 

Ratios 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Liquidity ratio 0.40 0.94 0.69 0.79 

Liquidity ratio (no intragroup) 0.99 1.62 0.84 0.83 

Solvency ratio 0.62 0.95 0.82 0.94 

Debt ratio 0.78 0.87 1.26 0.37 

Debt coverage ratio 2.65 3.95 (35.98) 7.55 

Debt coverage ratio (no 
intragroup) (0.02) 0.77 (9.88) 3.88 

ROE 0.21 0.26 (1.91) (0.10) 

ROA 0.04 0.11 (2.69) (0.51) 

Bad debts ratio 0.00 0.46 0.00 0.00 

Working Capital (1.344,328,88) (250,837.77) (894,887.52) (293,185.47) 

Working capital (no intragroup) (9,742.42) 1,509,680.13 (368,689.37) (227,253.04) 

Net financial position (2,604,327.95) (3,512,078.28) (6,840,833.80) (1,608,239.75) 

Operating costs ratio 22.04% 11.38% 52.88% 103.94% 

Investment turnover ratio 202.38% 48.36% 91.53% 13.17% 

     
     

 

2019 has been a year of financial restructuring for Mondo TV Iberoamérica, largely thanks to the 

contribution from the parent Mondo TV S.p.A. and the shareholders that have participated in the 

share capital increase, demonstrating their belief in our Company. 
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All the ratios have increased positively, except for the operating costs ratio due to the lower level of 

sales to cover all the operating costs. It should be noted that the impact of the capital increase on 

operating costs was around 10%. 

The most important data are the decrease in the debt ratio, reaching minimums since 2016 and the 

net financial position, also at minimums since 2016 together with the working capital.  

Another important improvement is the solvency ratio, which is getting close to 1 together with an 

increase in the liquidity ratio to 0.85. These ratios, together with the financial support of the parent, 

allow the Company to continue operating without problems in the future. It should also be noted that 

all the bank loans will end in mid-2021, with only a year and a half remaining until their maturity. 

 

3. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Liquidity 
 
Since 2017 the Company has been financed solely through loans taken out with Mondo TV S.p.A. 
 
In 2017, it began to seek alternative sources of finance by signing several lines of credit with banks 
and in 2018 loans associated with the projects, to create a financing structure appropriate to the 
evolution of the business. 
 
In order to address its cash needs, the Company also uses instruments such as advance payments, 
transfers of contracts and advances of tax credits for foreign production costs. 
 
2019 was a difficult year for the Company because of the difficulty in obtaining a new bank loan due 
to the negative equity. Thanks to the good relationships with the banks and the financial support of 
the Parent, the Company was able to continue with its ordinary operations paying the bank loans on 
time, even though this led to an increase in the average payment period to suppliers. 

 
Capital resources 
 
In 2018, the Company transformed part of the loan with Mondo TV S.p.A into a participating loan 
maturing in 2023 for the amount of €2,250,000 with the aim of converting it into capital over the 
coming years.  
 
In March 2019, in order to improve the equity of Mondo TV Iberoamérica, the parent wrote off 
€1,600,000 Euros of the debt, recognising the part corresponding to the parent’s percentage in the 
amount of €1,187,840 as a shareholder contribution and the remaining €412,160 in the Income 
Statement under “Other gains(losses)”.  
 
In 2019, the Company converted the amount outstanding in convertible debentures with Atlas in the 
amount of €260,000 into capital, thus terminating the contract in July 2019 Of this amount €58.922 
was added to the capital and €201,078 to the issue premium. 
 
On 13 September 2019, the nominal amount of the capital increase was published in the Official 
Gazette of the Companies Registry as a maximum of €2,374,194.40, which will be carried out through 
the issuance and circulation of a maximum of 47,483,888 ordinary shares (the “New Shares”) with a 
nominal value of €0.05 each one, of the same class and series as the ordinary shares of the Company 
currently in circulation. The new shares are issued with an issue premium of €0.023709, representing 
a total issue premium of €1,125,795.50 Euros. The issue rate for each one of the New Shares is 
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therefore €0.073709 (the "Subscription Price"). Therefore the maximum cash amount of the issue will 
increase to €3,499,989.90 or an inferior amount in the event of an incomplete subscription. 
 
On 27 December 2019, the capital increase was filed with the Companies Register with a payment of 
100%, whereas the shares began to be traded on 13 January 2019.  
 

4. MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
Operating risks 
 
The most significant operating risk of the Company is its dependency on the results of occasional 
distribution sales and the dependence on the productions ordered by the Parent. It is with this in 
mind that as of 2016 investments have been made in co-production to be able to generate regular 
revenue over the years, with the aim of being able to achieve a master toy. 
 
In the case of co-production, the main risk is not recovering the initial investment (as in the case of 
“Heidi”), therefore, the business model is now based on seeking out investment partners and 
producing a single pilot episode to promote the series and, once buyers have been found, continue 
with the production thanks to the financing coverage found. 
 
In 2016, the Company co-produced the first season of Heidi "Heidi, Bienvenida a Casa" with Alianzas 
whereas in 2018 it began developing the Company’s first series for adults, “2050”. The Company is 
presently searching for more co-production and catalogue captures projects with third-parties for 
distribution (i.e., as in the case of RTVE). 
 
 

Financial risks 
 
The interest rate risk that may affect the Company is associated with the loans/lines of credit with a 
Euribor/Libor linked interest rate. 
The Euribor is currently in negative figures and according to recent communications from the 
European Central Bank, the interest rate will remain the same for the rest of 2020. Therefore, there 
is no interest rate risk that may significantly affect the Company.  
 
In respect of exchange rate risk, the Company usually takes steps to protect itself at no cost through 
some suppliers that advise on trends, thus reducing the risk. Currently, the only foreign currencies 
used are USD and GBP. 
 
With regard to client credit risk, the Company manages this risk by obtaining part of the amount at 
the beginning of production. Furthermore, it calculates the credits matured in order to claim them. 
At present, the Company’s record of loss due to client impairment is close to 0%. 

 
 
5. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
Significant events after the reporting period 
 
On 15 January 2020, the Company signed a contract for the development of an audiovisual project 
with Isla Audiovisual, S.L. which will consist in the creation and determination of the original idea 
and the creation of the bible, creation and writing of the pilot script and the creation of a teaser. 
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On 1 march 2020, the Company signed a licence renewal agreement with the British company, Turner 
Broadcasting System Europe Limited, for a period of five years, to transmit, disseminate and distribute 
as of March 2020, seasons 1 and 2 of the series “Yo Soy Franky”, consisting of 60 episode each, in 
Italy, Vatican City, Monte Carlo, Malta and San Marino. The amount of the licence is not made public 
on the grounds of confidentiality between the parties. 
 
After the events caused by the COVID-19 virus, the Company had already prepared itself beforehand 
and structured itself so that it could carry on operating from the homes of each of its workers. It is 
hoped that in this manner, the obligation to work from home should not affect either the business or 
the results, as everyone is aware of how important it is for the company to carry on in its established 
objectives. 
 
No credit risk is anticipated which could affect the company, given that almost the entire balance 
outstanding is with Netflix. Therefore, there is no forecast impairment of the financial assets 
(including the loan and the investment in Mondo TV Producciones Canarias S.L.U.). With regard to 
market risk, the Company does not foresee that it will be significantly affected in the event of a 
fluctuation in the USD/€ exchange rate. 
 
With regards to liquidity risk, there are no covenants that could be affected by this situation, 
therefore, the Company does not have a risk of early repayment of loans (which all end in 2021) or 
the closing of credit lines. Furthermore, the Company is closing financing contracts that could be 
delayed by a few days due to the exceptional circumstances of the situation, and the banks have 
already been contacted for possible ICO loans guaranteed by the State should these be required. 
Notwithstanding, the company has the financial support of the parent which has sufficient cash. With 
regards to the contracts that depend on third parties due to the present circumstances, these may 
delay decisions to purchase or enter into co-production. We are unable to say with any certainty how 
much time we are talking about until this is specified in the negotiations that remain pending.  We 
can make ourselves stronger given that television and the platforms continue to require content, 
especially during these times when the consumption of television has increased exponentially due to 
the fact that the population, not only in Spain, is confined to their homes. We firmly believe that 
because of this, we can carry on with our projects without too much of a penalty due to the delays 
in the decisions of our clients. 
 
It should be noted that as at the date of this report, the Company had already closed turnover figure 
for 2020 amounting to 87.98% of the turnover of 2019. 
 
 
 

6. INFORMATION ON THE FORECAST EVOLUTION OF THE COMPANY 
 
Forecast evolution of the company 
 
After recovering the accumulated losses in 2018 due to the decision to impair the investment made 
in the production of “Heidi Bienvenida” and having returned to a situation of positive equity, the 
Company is firmly committed to ensuring a positive trend in its revenue. To do so, it has considered 
to diverge its business compared to the past, in particular by increasing the target of its produced 
and distributed to obtain more sales options. Following this strategy, in 2019 it signed a co-production 
agreement with the Brazilian producer Casablanca and the US producer VIP2000TV for the 
development and production of an ambitious futuristic series for adults titles “2050, the series”. The 
Turkish producer Global Content has also signed this agreement to complete the financing needs of 
the project, with the aim of producing it in 2020 and presenting it to the market for sale and broadcast 
in 2021. 
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The production of adult series can guarantee a variety of revenues, from the executive production 
fee forecast in the Production Budget, to a wider range of sales possibilities to clients, such as OTT 
platforms, which need such content because they do not have enough with their own 
production.  Based on this, the Company has begun to develop original concepts to offer them in co-
production or as “original” to potential clients around the world, focusing on the Spanish and Italian 
territories, given that the market views us as a natural bridge between the two. We must add that, 
traditionally, Latin America is considered as a natural extension of these two territories, considering 
the history that joins these two European countries to the American continent because of immigration 
and, in the case of Spain, the language. It is for this reason that the Company, with an Italian parent 
company located in Spanish territory, with its sights set on the American continent, is seen as the 
ideal partner for co-productions between Spain, Italy and Latin America.  
 
The first agreement to develop an original concept was signed with the Spanish producer Isla 
Audiovisual, which has extensive experience in production of series for RTVE, Antena 3 and Netflix, 
to name a few.  
 
As of now, Mondo TV Iberoamérica’s sales offer covers all target groups from children to adults, with 
children being the strong point of the Company, confirmed y the renewal of the rights to “Yo Soy 
Franky” to Turner in Italy. In relation to the children target audience, the Company has signed an 
agreement with the Argentine producer Azteca Films to search for financing for another family-
children’s project titled “S.O.S. 15!”.  Azteka Films has an extensive curriculum of productions in 
Argentina and it recently announced the opening of offices in Madrid to be closer to the European 
market and to strengthen the collaboration with the Company. 
 
In respect of distribution, the aim of the Company is to increase the distribution portfolio of 
programmes by third-parties, which provide the opportunity to generate revenue throughout the year 
with interesting margins and which do not require an investment in production. In the years prior to 
2018, the Company received significant revenue from the distribution of content to third parties, such 
as the sale of the series “Isabel”, produced by RTVE, to RAI, or the various children’s series sold in 
Italy, Israel, Portugal and Portuguese speaking African countries. The company continues to have the 
exclusive distribution of the RTVE catalogue for Italy, where there are several negotiations in progress 
for the sale of some of the titles from said catalogue.  The situation in Italy, with the recent changes 
of government and the senior management at RAI, together with the restructuring of the public 
television, has severely delayed closing the outstanding contracts. We are hopeful that once the 
situation resolves itself, it will be possible to close those contracts.  
 
Where the economic and political setting in Italy has delayed the closing of important agreements, 
the same setting has also delayed the signing of already negotiated and confirmed contracts. Because 
of this, 2019 closes with minor losses, due to not being able to include revenue already confirmed but 
impossible to include in the accounts. All these agreements have been transferred to this year, 
therefore we are confident of closing 2020 with a positive EBITDA and profit. 
  

 
7. OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION 
 
Stock market information 
 
The performance of the share over the year is as follows: 
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The fall in the share price until the beginning of 2019 is mainly due to the lack of presence in events 
with investors and investment in the relationships with investors. In this regard, the Company began 
to invest in the Investor Relations department towards the end of 2018 with the aim of becoming 
actively present in the market and with the decision to publish quarterly results so that all 
shareholders could follow its progress. 
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The sharp fall in the share price in September 2019 is due to the admission of new shares associated 
with the capital increase. 
 
The list of shareholders with a direct or indirect shareholding that is equal to or greater than 10% as 
at 31 December 2019 of which the Company has knowledge is as follows: 
 
- Mondo TV S.p.A holds a direct shareholding of 79.28% in the share capital of Mondo TV 

Iberoamérica S.A.; 
 
- Ms Giuliana Bertozzi, holds a direct and indirect shareholding of 20.99%, (5.11% and 15.88%, 

respectively) in the share capital of Mondo TV Iberoamérica. 
 

Similarly, the Directors and Manager with direct or indirect shareholding exceeding 1% of the share 
capital as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
 
- Mr Matteo Corradi, Director and Chairperson of the Company, has a direct and indirect 

shareholding of 8.34% (2.79% and 5.55%, respectively). 
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